ksv advisory inc.



Second Report of KSV Restructuring Inc. as Receiver of certain property of 30 Roe Investments Corp.

December 5, 2022

Contents

1.0	Introduction1
2.0	Background3
2.1	Overview
2.2	Creditors
	2.2.1 Secured Creditors
	2.2.2 Canada Revenue Agency
	2.2.3 Other Creditors
2.3	Additional Information4
3.0	Receiver's Activities
3.1	Records and Property4
3.2	Current Status of the Units
3.3	The Company's Proposed Refinancings6
3.4	Zar's Allegations7
3.5	Potential Marketing of the Units as a "Hospitality Business"7
3.6	Additional Activities
4.0	Sale Process
4.1	Sale Process Update9
4.2	Amended Sale Process
4.3	Listing Agent Change 11
4.4	Sale Process Recommendation12
5.0	Conclusion and Recommendation

Appendices Appendix

pen	ndix	Tab
	Receivership Order	A
	First Report of the Receiver (without appendices)	В
	Records and Property Order	C
	Letter dated July 19, 2022 from Receiver's counsel to Company counsel	D
	Letter dated July 25, 2022 from Receiver's counsel to Company counsel	E
	Letter dated July 22, 2022 from Receiver's counsel to Airbnb	F
	Endorsement of the Honourable Justice McEwen dated July 20, 2022	G
	Listing Agreement	Н
	Letter dated August 5, 2022 from Receiver's counsel to Company counsel	I
	Sale Process Comparison	J
	Proposed Remax Listing Agreement	K



COURT FILE NO.: CV-22-00674810-00CL

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

BETWEEN:

KINGSETT MORTGAGE CORPORATION

Applicant

- and -

30 ROE INVESTMENTS CORP.

Respondent

APPLICATION UNDER SUBSECTION 243(1) OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, AS AMENDED, AND SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, AS AMENDED

SECOND REPORT OF KSV RESTRUCTURING INC. AS RECEIVER

DECEMBER 5, 2022

1.0 Introduction

- 1. Pursuant to an order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the "Court") made on May 9, 2022 (the "Receivership Order"), KSV Restructuring Inc. was appointed receiver and manager (the "Receiver") of (i) the real property legally described in Schedule "A" (the "Real Property") of the Receivership Order, (ii) all of the assets, undertakings and properties of 30 Roe Investments Corp. (the "Company") acquired for, used in connection with, situated at, or arising from the ownership, development, use or disposition of, the Real Property, including the proceeds therefrom, and (iii) all of the Company's rights, claims, advantages, benefits, title and interest in, to and under all agreements, leases, documents, permits, approvals, licenses and instruments in respect of the Real Property and all monies or proceeds payable thereunder (collectively, the "Property"). A copy of the Receivership Order is attached as Appendix "A".
- 2. The Real Property consists of nine penthouse condominium units, nine parking spaces and nine storage units and/or lockers in a condominium development known as "Minto 30 Roe", located at 30 Roehampton Avenue in Toronto, Ontario (each, a "Unit" and collectively, the "Units").
- 3. This report (the "Report") is filed by KSV in its capacity as Receiver.

1.1 Purposes of this Report

- 1. The purposes of this report ("Report") are to:
 - a) provide background information about these proceedings;
 - b) summarize the Receiver's activities since the date of the First Report to Court dated July 7, 2022 (the "First Report");
 - provide an update on the Court-approved sale process (the "Sale Process") pursuant to which the Units are being marketed for sale by the Receiver with the assistance of HomeLife Landmark Realty Inc. ("HomeLife") as the listing agent;
 - d) summarize proposed amendments to the Sale Process (the "Amended Sale Process") (as described in Section 4.2 of the Report), including:
 - i. the proposed retention of RE/MAX Hallmark Realty Ltd., Brokerage ("Remax") to act as the new listing agent for the Units; and
 - ii. confirming the Receiver's authority to: (a) list any number of the Units for sale at any time as it, following consultation with Remax, determines is appropriate in its sole discretion; (b) list all the Units for sale; and (c) list Units for sale that are occupied; and
 - e) recommend that the Court make an order:
 - i. approving the Amended Sale Process, including the Receiver's execution of a listing agreement to be entered into between Remax and the Receiver (the "Remax Listing Agreement"); and
 - ii. approving the Receiver's activities as described in the Report.

1.2 Currency

1. Unless otherwise noted, all currency references in this Report are to Canadian dollars.

1.3 Restrictions

- 1. In preparing this Report, the Receiver has relied upon the limited Records obtained from the Company and KingSett Mortgage Corporation ("KingSett"), and correspondence with Raymond Zar ("Zar"), the principal of the Company, on behalf of the Company (the "Information").
- 2. The Receiver has not audited, or otherwise attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of the financial information relied on to prepare this Report in a manner that complies with Canadian Auditing Standards ("CAS") pursuant to the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada Handbook and, accordingly, the Receiver expresses no opinion or other form of assurance contemplated under the CAS in respect of such information. Any party wishing to place reliance on the financial information should perform its own diligence.

2.0 Background

2.1 Overview

- 1. The Company is a privately held company incorporated under the *Canada Business Corporations Act.* The Company's registered head office is located at 2 Bloor Street East, Suite 3500, Toronto, Ontario. The Company's sole director is Zar.
- 2. The Units are in a thirty-five storey, 397-unit condominium building in Toronto. The Receiver understands from the Company that the Units have been furnished by the Company. The Receiver understands from discussions and correspondence with the Company and its review of bank records that prior to the receivership, most of the Units were rented via websites advertising short-term rentals, including Airbnb.

2.2 Creditors

2.2.1 Secured Creditors

- 1. The Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce ("CIBC") holds a first mortgage on each of the Units and other security. The Receiver understands each CIBC mortgage only secures the indebtedness owing by the Company in respect of a particular Unit (ranging from approximately \$360,000 to \$620,000). CIBC has advised that, as at June 20, 2022, it was owed a total of approximately \$4.2 million by the Company and that interest and costs continue to accrue.
- 2. On April 8, 2019, KingSett advanced a non-revolving demand loan to the Company, which originally was for the principal amount of \$1.5 million, but was later increased to \$1.875 million (the "KingSett Loan"). The KingSett Loan is secured by a second mortgage on each of the Units, a general security agreement and other security. KingSett has advised that, as at December 2, 2022, it was owed a total of approximately \$2.4 million and that interest and costs continue to accrue.

2.2.2 Canada Revenue Agency

- 1. On July 5, 2022, the Receiver received a letter (the "CRA Letter") from Canada Revenue Agency ("CRA") dated June 14, 2022 indicating that the Company owes CRA \$39,225.38, comprised of a trust claim relating to harmonized sales tax ("HST") of \$32,765.01 and penalties and interest of \$6,460.37.
- 2. CRA has advised the Receiver that the Company has not filed any HST returns for the period commencing January 1, 2020 to the date of the receivership. Despite several requests for the Company's books and records, the Receiver does not have the information necessary to file these overdue returns.

2.2.3 Other Creditors

1. The Royal Bank of Canada ("RBC") has advised the Receiver that the Company has a Canada Emergency Benefit Account loan with a fully drawn outstanding balance of \$60,000. In addition, RBC has advised the Company has outstanding credit card debt.

- 2. Loop Funding Inc. had a financing statement registered against the Company under the Ontario personal property security registry, although that registration expired earlier in the year. The Receiver is not aware what, if any, obligations may be owing by the Company to Loop Funding Inc.
- 3. As discussed in greater detail below and in the First Report, the Receiver has asked the Company on numerous occasions for information concerning the Company's creditors. To date, limited information in this regard has been provided to the Receiver. Accordingly, the Receiver has been unable to compile complete creditor lists and all information about the indebtedness of the Company in this Report should be considered preliminary.

2.3 Additional Information

1. Additional information regarding the Company and these proceedings is included in the First Report, a copy of which is provided, without appendices, in Appendix "B". Materials filed with the Court in this proceeding can be accessed from the Receiver's website at: https://www.ksvadvisory.com/experience/case/30-roe-investments-corp-.

3.0 Receiver's Activities

3.1 Records and Property

- 1. As described in the First Report, the Receiver was unable to obtain various Records (as defined in the Receivership Order) from the Company notwithstanding repeated requests and demands. Given the difficulties experienced by the Receiver in obtaining access to the Records and the Property from the Company and Zar, the Receiver sought an order directing the Company and Zar to provide certain Records and Property to the Receiver, including: (i) a list of the creditors of the Company; (ii) details of all Property; (iii) copies of any leases in respect of the Units; (iv) any post-dated rent cheques in respect of the Units; and (v) the keys for the Units and any security cards, fobs or similar items required to access Minto 30 Roe. On July 18, 2022, the Court granted the order sought, a copy of which is attached as Appendix "C" (the "Records and Property Order"). The Records and Property order also directs the Company and Zar to deliver such further Records or Property as may be requested in writing by the Receiver from time to time.
- 2. On July 19, 2022, the Receiver's counsel delivered a letter to counsel to the Company enclosing the Records and Property Order and directing the Company and Zar to deliver the specified Records and Property detailed in the order to the Receiver forthwith and by no later than 3:00 pm (Toronto time) on July 21, 2022, and requesting that the Company deliver certain further specified Records to the Receiver by no later than end of day on July 22, 2022. A copy of this letter is attached as Appendix "D" (the "July 19 Letter"). The July 19 Letter emphasized that the Receiver had still not received the keys to the Units despite numerous prior requests and Zar's advice that they were being couriered to the Receiver on July 14, 2022, and advised that if the keys were not received by the Receiver by July 21, 2022, the Receiver would proceed to change the locks on the Units.

- 3. None of the Records or Property requested (including the keys to the Units) were delivered to the Receiver by the deadlines specified in the July 19 Letter.
- 4. On July 25, 2022, the Receiver's counsel delivered a further letter to counsel to the Company, a copy of which is attached as Appendix "E" (the "July 25 Letter"). Among other things, the July 25 Letter confirmed that none of the Records and Property requested in the July 19 Letter had been received by the specified deadlines and that the Company and Zar were in breach of the Records and Property Order. As relates to the keys, the July 25 Letter advised that the Receiver had made arrangements to change the locks for the Units. The July 25 Letter also advised that the Receiver had learned that a tenant had delivered post-dated rent cheques to the Company for their Unit for the period through July 2023, which cheques had never been turned over to the Receiver despite repeated requests to do so.
- 5. On July 25, 2022, a package arrived at the Receiver's officer with the keys for the Units. Given the significant difficulties experienced by the Receiver in dealing with the Company and Zar, the Receiver proceeded to have the locks to the Units changed on or about July 26, 2022.
- 6. Due to the issues experienced by the Receiver in obtaining Records and Property from the Company and Zar, the Receiver has sought alternate sources of information and pursued other options to address outstanding issues, including:
 - a) on July 22, 2022, the Receiver's counsel delivered a letter to Airbnb requesting that all Records pertaining to the Units that are in Airbnb's possession be provided to the Receiver, and advising that no further rentals of the Units should be permitted via Airbnb without the express prior written consent of the Receiver, and, pending further direction from the Receiver, any listings for the Units should be removed from the Airbnb platform. A copy of this letter is attached as Appendix "F". In response to this letter, Torys LLP, Airbnb's external Canadian counsel, has provided the Receiver with certain information regarding past listings of the Units on the Airbnb platform. Airbnb has also made payment of certain amounts owing relating to the rental of the Units directly to the Receiver; and
 - b) engaged directly with occupants of the Units to obtain copies of rental agreements and other relevant details, such as rental terms.
- 7. At this time, the Receiver has not sought to enforce the Records and Property Order against the Company and/or Zar, but reserves its right to do so in the future in its discretion.

3.2 Current Status of the Units

1. In the First Report, the Receiver provided a summary of the status of the Units as provided by the Company. Since the date of the First Report, the Receiver has taken steps to verify the information provided by the Company, including by engaging directly with the occupants of the Units. An updated summary of the current status of the Units, as per the Receiver's understanding, is set out below:

Unit Number	Occupancy Status	Notes
PH01	Vacant	Occupancy ended
PH02	Occupied	Twelve-month lease expiring December 31, 2022.
PH03	Vacant	Occupancy ended
PH04	Vacant	Occupancy ended
PH05	Occupied	Initial lease expired on July 31, 2022 Signed a twelve-month lease extension to July 31, 2023
PH06	Occupied	Occupancy ending January 31, 2023
PH07	Vacant	Occupancy ended
PH08	Occupied	Occupancy ending January 13, 2023
PH09	Vacant	Occupancy ended

2. The lease for Unit PH05 was extended pursuant to an Amendment to Agreement to Lease dated June 3, 2022, which was executed by Zar and completed without the knowledge or consent of the Receiver in violation of the terms of the Receivership Order.

3.3 The Company's Proposed Refinancings

- 1. On July 6, 2022, the Company delivered a commitment letter dated June 10, 2022, for a \$2,000,000 second mortgage loan (the "Commitment Letter") in connection with seeking to refinance the KingSett Loan and pursue a consensual discharge of the Receiver. As discussed in the First Report, the Receiver noted certain deficiencies in the Commitment Letter, including, among other things, that the Commitment Letter was subject to numerous conditions and did not provide sufficient financing to discharge the KingSett Loan or address the costs of the receivership. In the cover email enclosing the Commitment Letter, Zar advised that "The delta between the amount required to payout KingSett, costs and discharge the Receiver and the amount listed on the commitment will be funded by me personally". The Receiver requested evidence from Zar showing sufficient liquid resources to bridge this funding gap and also requested that the Company provide a letter from the potential replacement lender indicating, among other things, that the conditions to the Commitment Letter had been satisfied or waived, neither of which was ever provided.
- 2. A subsequent commitment letter from the same proposed lender and in the same amount dated July 18, 2022, was filed by the Company with the Court just prior to the start of the Sale Process approval hearing. As noted by this Court in its Endorsement in respect of the Sale Process approval hearing, a copy of which is attached as Appendix "G", the updated commitment letter faced the same issues as outlined in the prior paragraph.

3. On August 7, 2022, the Company advised the Receiver that it was pursuing a different refinancing and subsequently delivered a commitment letter from a new lender in the amount of \$3 million. Over the course of the balance of August 2022, the Receiver and its counsel engaged in various correspondence and negotiations with the Company, the proposed new lender, CIBC, KingSett and their respective counsel regarding the potential refinancing, including negotiating and preparing draft documentation regarding a potential consensual discharge of the Receiver upon the completion of the refinancing. On the understanding that the refinancing was targeted to close on August 25, 2022, the Receiver agreed to pause the Sale Process for a brief period and delist the Unit that had been listed for sale to facilitate the potential refinancing. The proposed refinancing failed to close on August 25, 2022. Further discussions and negotiations ensued over the course of the following several days without the refinancing closing. On August 30, 2022, counsel to the Receiver advised counsel to the Company, the proposed lender, CIBC and KingSett that as the refinancing had not closed, the Receiver was continuing the Sale Process.

3.4 Zar's Allegations

1. During the course of the receivership proceedings, Zar has made numerous baseless allegations in respect of the Receiver, its counsel, HomeLife and KingSett. The Receiver and its counsel have responded to these allegations as they consider appropriate. The Receiver has also advised Zar that it does not intend to respond to his allegations on an ongoing basis, and that if he believes he has some basis for a complaint, the matter should be raised with the Court and will be addressed by the Receiver in that context. The Receiver does not intend to address these matters in detail as it does not believe they are relevant to the relief sought on the present motion, but reserves the right to do so at a later date and/or in reply should any allegations be made by the Company or Zar before the Court.

3.5 Potential Marketing of the Units as a "Hospitality Business"

1. The Company and Zar have previously taken the position that the Units should be marketed *en bloc* as a going concern hospitality business. Prior to the Sale Process approval hearing, by email dated July 10, 2022, the Receiver's counsel invited the Company to provide any information it wished to provide to the Receiver for consideration in respect of a potential going concern or *en bloc* transaction for the Units. No information was received from the Company in response to this request. Following the Sale Process hearing, the July 19 Letter followed up on the Receiver's request for information in this regard. Again, no information was received in response to this request. The July 25 Letter confirmed that as no information, including financial information, had been received in response to these requests, the Receiver was unable to assess the viability of selling the Units as a going concern hospitality business and intended to proceed with the sale of two Units in accordance with the Sale Process.

- 2. Based on its own review of the information available to it, the Receiver continues to believe there is no merit to the suggestion that the Units could be sold as a going concern hospitality business for a premium relative to the individual resale value of the Units, including because:
 - a. although the Receiver does not have access to financial statements for the Company, the business of the Company appears to have been loss making (as evidenced by the receivership);
 - b. prior appraisals filed by the Company valued the Units on an individual basis and indicated the highest and best use for the Units is a "a continuation of the existing residential use";
 - c. the Units are in a condominium and the declaration of the condominium prohibits rentals of furnished units for a period of less than thirty (30) days;
 - d. rather than being rented out on a short-term basis, many of the Units were in fact being rented out by the Company on a long-term rental basis, including for lease terms of up to a year; and
 - e. although Minto 30 Roe includes usual condominium amenities (e.g. concierge, fitness room and party room), it is not a hybrid condominium/hotel project with hotel-style amenities.

3.6 Additional Activities

- 1. In addition to addressing and dealing with the matters described previously, since the date of the First Report, the Receiver has:
 - a) corresponded with the Royal Bank of Canada regarding the Company's bank account;
 - b) corresponded with the property manager for Minto 30 Roe regarding matters concerning the Units, including as relates to changing the locks and the payment of monthly condominium fees;
 - c) corresponded regularly with the occupants of the Units, including regarding monthly rent, the occupancy terms (including extending certain rental terms), and other general issues raised by the occupants from time to time;
 - d) engaged in correspondence with an agent of an occupant regarding a failure of the occupant to vacate a Unit at the end of the rental term, as well as a dispute regarding the return of keys to the Unit and a refund of the key deposit. The Receiver was of the view that the obligation to refund the key deposit was a prereceivership obligation stayed by the Receivership Order. Ultimately, the occupant vacated the Unit and returned the keys;
 - e) held numerous discussions and corresponded with CIBC, KingSett and the Company concerning the receivership proceedings, including in relation to the Sale Process;

- f) corresponded regularly with HomeLife regarding the status of the Sale Process, as described in greater detail in Section 4.1 below; and
- g) prepared this Report.

4.0 Sale Process

4.1 Sale Process Update

- 1. Pursuant to a Listing Agreement dated July 7, 2022 ("Listing Agreement"), which was approved by the Court pursuant to an Order dated July 18, 2022 (the "Sale Process Approval Order"), the Units were being marketed for sale by HomeLife as the listing agent. A detailed summary of the proposed Sale Process was provided in Section 4 of the First Report and, accordingly, is not repeated herein. A copy of the Listing Agreement is attached as Appendix "H".
- 2. For reasons described in the First Report, the Receiver initially only listed two Units for sale, being PH04 and PH09 (including the related parking spot and storage unit/locker). The selection of Units listed for sale was determined based on market advice from HomeLife, as well as the occupancy status of the Units. As provided above, PH04 was vacated on August 7, 2022 and PH09 was vacated on July 31, 2022.
- 3. As part of the Sale Process, HomeLife has, among other things, done the following with respect to the marketing of PH04 and PH09:
 - a) staged the Units, as required;
 - b) prepared a 3D tour of the Units;
 - c) arranged for the painting and minor repairs to the Units;
 - d) listed the Units for sale on MLS; and
 - e) provided the Receiver with weekly updates on viewings and feedback from prospective purchasers.
- 4. The Units were listed for sale in August 2022. Despite conducting over 40 showings and the Receiver agreeing to reduce the pricing on the Units on several occasions, there have been no offers to purchase the Units listed for sale to date (whether at the asking price or any lower price).
- 5. The Listing Agreement with HomeLife expired in accordance with its terms on October 18, 2022, being the three-month anniversary of its execution by the Receiver, and the two Units listed for sale were delisted from MLS on or about the same date. The Receiver has determined not to renew the Listing Agreement with HomeLife and is proposed to enter into the Remax Listing Agreement for the reasons discussed in greater detail below.

4.2 Amended Sale Process

- 1. In the First Report, the Receiver advised that it only intended to list two Units for sale at that time and was proposing to sell the Units in stages as: (i) it did not know how many Units were required to be sold to repay KingSett, or whether CIBC wishes to be repaid the entirety of the indebtedness owing to it; and (ii) the Receiver was concerned that if a majority of the Units were listed for sale at once, it could have a negative impact on the sale price for the Units given they are all located in the same building and on the same floor. The Receiver further advised that it intended to list two Units that had been vacated, and that it would report back to the Court on its plans for the listing of additional Units.
- 2. Based on, among other things, current market dynamics, the increased indebtedness owing to CIBC and KingSett from the continuing accrual of interest and expenses and the expected tax implications of sales of the Units, the Receiver now believes all of the Units will need to be sold to repay the secured indebtedness owing by the Company, and that there is likelihood of KingSett suffering a shortfall. A primary reason for the shortfall is that the Receiver believes that HST will likely need to be charged and remitted on the sale of the Units. One of the factors required to determine whether HST is owing is whether the Company or Zar claimed input tax credits when purchasing the Units. On August 5, 2022, the Receiver sent a letter to counsel to Zar requesting this information. A copy of the letter is attached as Appendix "I". The Company has not responded to this letter.
- 3. Since the expiry of the Listing Agreement, the Receiver has engaged in further discussions with KingSett regarding the path forward on the Sale Process, and has also discussed the status of the Sale Process with CIBC. Following these discussions, the Receiver is proposing that the Sale Process be amended as described in the following paragraphs, including engaging Remax as the new listing agent.
- 4. The proposed Amended Sale Process for the Units is as follows:
 - a) the Receiver, with the assistance of Remax and the Receiver's counsel, will administer, supervise, facilitate and oversee the Amended Sale Process with a view to maximizing value for the Units in a timely manner. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Receiver shall have the authority to determine, from time to time and in its sole discretion: (i) which and how many of the Units are to be listed for sale, and when Units are to be listed for sale; and (ii) the listing prices for the Units, including any changes to listing prices. For the avoidance of doubt: (i) the Receiver shall have the authority to list any number of the Units for sale at any time as it, following consultation with Remax, determines is appropriate in its sole discretion; (ii) the Receiver shall be entitled to list all of the Units for sale; and (iii) the Receiver shall have the right to list Units for sale that are occupied.

- b) Remax will: (i) prepare marketing materials for the Units, including a brochure, website, photographs and floor plans; (ii) arrange for the Units to be staged as and when they are to be listed for sale, provided that Remax will not be required to stage a Unit that is occupied unless agreed by the Receiver and the occupant; (iii) send an email and newsletter regarding the opportunity to its database of parties, including industry contacts, potential buyers and the brokerage community; (iv) post the Units on the Toronto Real Estate Board Multiple Listing Service ("MLS") as and when they are to be listed for sale; and (v) hold open houses for the Units listed for sale to the extent considered appropriate;
- c) the Units will be marketed on an "as is, where is" basis and together with their related parking and storage unit/locker;
- d) any offer(s) to purchase a Unit will be reviewed and considered by the Receiver as and when received. The Receiver shall have the sole discretion to determine whether or not to accept or reject an offer and how to otherwise deal with an offer, including, without limitation, as relates to any negotiations with a prospective purchaser and entering into any agreement of purchase and sale in respect of a Unit, provided that any transaction in respect of a Unit will be subject to Court approval; and
- e) without limiting the factors that may be considered by the Receiver in reviewing and considering an offer for a Unit, the Receiver will have regard to: (i) the consideration offered; (ii) any conditions to closing or other factors that may impact the ability of a transaction to be consummated; and (iii) the proposed closing date.
- 5. A copy of the blackline comparison of the Amended Sale Process versus the Sale Process is attached as Appendix "J". The key proposed changes are as follows:
 - a) the Receiver proposes to enter into the Remax Listing Agreement and use Remax as the new listing agent for the Units;
 - b) although the Sale Process provides broad authority to the Receiver to oversee and administer the Sale Process, the Amended Sale Process specifically confirms the Receiver's authority to: (i) list any number of the Units for sale at any time as it, following consultation with Remax, determines is appropriate in its sole discretion; (ii) list all of the Units for sale, and (iii) list Units for sale that are occupied.
- 6. The Receiver is touring the vacant Units with Remax on December 7, 2022. After the tour, the Receiver, in consultation with Remax, intends to determine the pricing, the timing and the number of Units to be listed for sale in January 2023.

4.3 Listing Agent Change

1. As noted previously, the term of the Listing Agreement with HomeLife was for three months following the execution of the Listing Agreement, and accordingly, the Listing Agreement expired on October 18, 2022.

- 2. Notwithstanding the Listing Agreement is expired, the Listing Agreement provides for a holdover period of three months following the termination of the Listing Agreement during which HomeLife is entitled to receive commissions in respect of sales of Units to purchasers who were introduced and disclosed to the Receiver or to the Unit during the term of the Listing Agreement, net of fees, commissions or other compensation paid or payable to the new listing agent.
- 3. Following consultation with KingSett, the Receiver determined not to renew the Listing Agreement and instead entered into discussions with Remax. The Receiver has selected Remax to act as new listing agent for the following reasons:
 - a) Remax's proposed commission rate of 3.5% is the same as HomeLife's, which was the lowest of all the broker proposals that the Receiver received. However, Remax's commission structure is more attractive to co-operating agents as it is offering a co-operating brokerage rate of 2.5% (and only keeping a commission of 1%) whereas HomeLife was offering 2% to cooperating brokerages (and keeping a commission of 1.5%). The change in commission structure should incentivize co-operating agents to bring prospective purchasers to the Units;
 - b) Gloria Yeung ("Yeung"), who will be the lead agent, has over 7 years of experience selling residential condominiums in Toronto, Ontario. Since 2016, Yeung has completed over 500 condo transactions in Downtown and Midtown Toronto and has experience selling condominiums in the Yonge and Eglinton market;
 - c) the Receiver has worked with Yeung on another receivership mandate with a successful result. The Receiver understands that an employee at KingSett has also worked with Yeung on other mandates, and KingSett is supportive of her proposed engagement by the Receiver; and
 - d) Remax is a well recognized full-service regional brokerage with over 1,800 agents operating through over 40 offices in Ontario.
- 4. A copy of the proposed Remax Listing Agreement is attached as Appendix "K".

4.4 Sale Process Recommendation

- 1. The Receiver recommends that this Court issue an Order approving the Amended Sale Process and authorizing the Receiver to enter into the Remax Listing Agreement for the following reasons:
 - a) In the Receiver's view, the proposed Amended Sale Process is commercially reasonable and consistent with other real property sale processes approved by this Court in other cases. It is consistent with the existing Sale Process and will continue to provide broad market exposure for the Units in an effort to realize maximum value for stakeholders;

- b) the Remax Listing Agreement is on substantially the same commercial terms as the existing Listing Agreement, except for the improved commission structure for cooperating agents; and
- c) based on the Receiver's experience, the Receiver believes that the commission payable to Remax under the Remax Listing Agreement is reasonable.

5.0 Conclusion and Recommendation

1. Based on the foregoing, the Receiver respectfully recommends that this Honourable Court make orders granting the relief detailed in Section 1.1(1)(e) of this Report.

* * *

All of which is respectfully submitted,

KSV Restructuring Inc.

KSV RESTRUCTURING INC. SOLELY IN ITS CAPACITY AS COURT APPOINTED RECEIVER AND MANAGER OF CERTAIN PROPERTY OF 30 ROE INVESTMENTS CORP. AND NOT IN ITS PERSONAL OR CORPORATE CAPACITIES

Appendix "A"



Court File No.: CV-22-00674810-00CL

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

))

)

Electronically issued	: 09-May-2022
Délivré par voie électronique	
Toronto	
	NUNADLE

MONDAY, THE 9th DAY OF MAY, 2022

JUSTICE CAVANAGH

BETWEEN:

KINGSETT MORTGAGE CORPORATION

Applicant

- and -

30 ROE INVESTMENTS CORP.

Respondent

IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION UNDER SUBSECTION 243(1) OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, AS AMENDED, AND SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, AS AMENDED

ORDER

(Appointing Receiver)

THIS APPLICATION made by KingSett Mortgage Corporation (the "Applicant") for an Order pursuant to subsection 243(1) of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended (the "BIA") and section 101 of the *Courts of Justice Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, as amended (the "CJA") appointing KSV Restructuring Inc. ("KSV") as receiver and manager (in such capacities, the "Receiver") without security, of (i) the real property legally described in Schedule "A" hereto (the "Real Property"), (ii) all of the assets, undertakings and properties of 30 Roe Investments Corp. (the "Debtor") acquired for, used in connection with, situate at, or arising from the ownership, development, use or disposition of, the Real Property, including the proceeds therefrom, and (iii) all of the Debtor's rights, claims, advantages, benefits, title and interest in, to and under all agreements, leases, documents, permits, approvals, licenses and instruments in respect of the Real Property and all monies or proceeds payable thereunder

(collectively with (i), (ii) and (iii), the "**Property**"), was heard on May 6, 2022 via Zoom videoconference at 330 University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.

- 4 -

ON READING the affidavit of Daniel Pollack sworn January 7, 2022 and the Exhibits thereto, the affidavit of Elizabeth Fimio affirmed on February 17, 2022 and the Exhibits thereto, and the affidavit of Lorraine Klemens sworn April 26, 2022 and the Exhibits thereto, and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the Applicant, the Debtor, the Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce ("**CIBC**") and such other parties listed on the Participant Information Form, no one appearing for any other party although duly served as appears from the affidavits of service sworn and filed, and on reading the consent of KSV to act as the Receiver,

SERVICE

1. THIS COURT ORDERS that the time for service of the Notice of Application and the Application Record is hereby abridged and validated so that this application is properly returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.

APPOINTMENT

2. THIS COURT ORDERS that pursuant to subsection 243(1) of the BIA and section 101 of the CJA, KSV is hereby appointed Receiver, without security, of the Property.

RECEIVER'S POWERS

3. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is hereby empowered and authorized, but not obligated, to act at once in respect of the Property and, without in any way limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Receiver is hereby expressly empowered and authorized to do any of the following where the Receiver considers it necessary or desirable:

- (a) to take possession of and exercise control over the Property and any and all proceeds, receipts and disbursements arising out of or from the Property;
- (b) to receive, preserve, and protect the Property, or any part or parts thereof, including, but not limited to, the changing of locks and security codes, the relocating of Property to safeguard it, the engaging of independent security

personnel, the taking of physical inventories and the placement of such insurance coverage as may be necessary or desirable;

- (c) to manage the Property, including the powers to enter into any agreements or incur any obligations in connection with the Property, or cease to perform or disclaim any contracts of the Debtor in respect of the Property;
- (d) to engage consultants, appraisers, agents, real estate brokers, experts, auditors, accountants, managers, counsel and such other persons from time to time and on whatever basis, including on a temporary basis, to assist with the exercise of the Receiver's powers and duties, including without limitation those conferred by this Order;
- to purchase or lease such machinery, equipment, inventories, supplies, premises or other assets as necessary or desirable to preserve or maintain the Property or any part or parts thereof;
- (f) to receive and collect all monies and accounts now owed or hereafter owing to the Debtor in connection with the Property (including, without limitation, any rent payments in respect of the Real Property) and to exercise all remedies of the Debtor in collecting such monies and accounts, including, without limitation, to enforce any security held by the Debtor;
- (g) to settle, extend or compromise any indebtedness owing to the Debtor in connection with the Property;
- (h) to execute, assign, issue and endorse documents of whatever nature in respect of any of the Property, whether in the Receiver's name or in the name and on behalf of the Debtor, for any purpose pursuant to this Order;
- (i) to initiate, prosecute and continue the prosecution of any and all proceedings and to defend all proceedings now pending or hereafter instituted with respect to the Debtor (as such proceedings relate to the Property or any portion thereof), the Property or the Receiver, and to settle

or compromise any such proceedings. The authority hereby conveyed shall extend to such appeals or applications for judicial review in respect of any order or judgment pronounced in any such proceeding;

- (j) to market any or all of the Property, including advertising and soliciting offers in respect of the Property or any part or parts thereof and negotiating such terms and conditions of sale as the Receiver in its discretion may deem appropriate;
- (k) to sell, convey, transfer, lease or assign the Property or any part or parts thereof out of the ordinary course of business:
 - (i) without the approval of this Court in respect of any transaction not exceeding \$250,000, provided that the aggregate consideration for all such transactions does not exceed \$500,000; and
 - (ii) with the approval of this Court in respect of any transaction in which the purchase price or the aggregate purchase price exceeds the applicable amount set out in the preceding clause;

and in each such case notice under subsection 63(4) of the Ontario *Personal Property Security Act* or section 31 of the Ontario *Mortgages Act* as the case may be, shall not be required;

- to apply for any vesting order or other orders necessary to convey the Property or any part or parts thereof to a purchaser or purchasers thereof, free and clear of any liens or encumbrances affecting such Property;
- (m) to report to, meet with and discuss with such affected Persons (as defined below) as the Receiver deems appropriate on all matters relating to the Property and the receivership, and to share information, subject to such terms as to confidentiality as the Receiver deems advisable;

- (n) to register a copy of this Order and any other Orders in respect of the Property against title to any of the Property;
- to apply for any permits, licences, approvals or permissions in respect of the Property as may be required by any governmental authority and any renewals thereof for and on behalf of and, if thought desirable by the Receiver, in the name of the Debtor;
- (p) to enter into agreements with any trustee in bankruptcy appointed in respect of the Debtor, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the ability to enter into occupation agreements for any property owned or leased by the Debtor;
- (q) to undertake any investigations deemed appropriate by the Receiver with respect to the location and/or disposition of assets reasonably believed to be, or to have been, Property;
- (r) to exercise any shareholder, partnership, joint venture or other rights which the Debtor may have; and
- (s) to take any steps reasonably incidental to the exercise of these powers or the performance of any statutory obligations, including opening any mail or other correspondence addressed to the Debtor,

and in each case where the Receiver takes any such actions or steps, it shall be exclusively authorized and empowered to do so, to the exclusion of all other Persons, including the Debtor, and without interference from any other Person.

DUTY TO PROVIDE ACCESS AND CO-OPERATION TO THE RECEIVER

4. THIS COURT ORDERS that (i) the Debtor, (ii) all of its current and former directors, officers, employees, agents, accountants, legal counsel and shareholders, and all other persons acting on its instructions or behalf, and (iii) all other individuals, firms, corporations, governmental bodies or agencies, or other entities having notice of this Order (all of the foregoing, collectively, being "**Persons**" and each being a "**Person**") shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the existence

- v -

of any Property in such Person's possession or control, shall grant immediate and continued access to the Property to the Receiver, and shall deliver all such Property to the Receiver upon the Receiver's request.

5. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons shall forthwith advise the Receiver of the existence of any books, documents, securities, contracts, orders, corporate and accounting records, and any other papers, records, information and cloud-based data of any kind related to the Property, and any computer programs, computer tapes, computer disks, cloud or other data storage media containing any such information (the foregoing, collectively, the "**Records**") in that Person's possession or control, and shall provide to the Receiver or permit the Receiver to make, retain and take away copies thereof and grant to the Receiver unfettered access to and use of accounting, computer, software, cloud and physical facilities relating thereto, provided however that nothing in this paragraph 5 or in paragraph 6 of this Order shall require the delivery of Records, or the granting of access to Records, which may not be disclosed or provided to the Receiver due to the privilege attaching to solicitor-client communication or due to statutory provisions prohibiting such disclosure.

6. THIS COURT ORDERS that if any Records are stored or otherwise contained on a computer, in a cloud or other electronic system of information storage, whether by independent service provider or otherwise, all Persons in possession or control of such Records shall forthwith give unfettered access to the Receiver for the purpose of allowing the Receiver to recover and fully copy all of the information contained therein whether by way of printing the information onto paper or making copies of computer disks or such other manner of retrieving and copying the information as the Receiver in its discretion deems expedient, and shall not alter, erase or destroy any Records without the prior written consent of the Receiver. Further, for the purposes of this paragraph, all Persons shall provide the Receiver with all such assistance in gaining immediate access to the information in the Records as the Receiver may in its discretion require including providing the Receiver with any and all access codes, account names, account numbers and account creating credentials that may be required to gain access to the information.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE RECEIVER

7. THIS COURT ORDERS that no proceeding or enforcement process in any court or tribunal (each, a "**Proceeding**"), shall be commenced or continued against the Receiver except with the written consent of the Receiver or with leave of this Court.

NO PROCEEDINGS AGAINST THE DEBTOR OR THE PROPERTY

8. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Proceeding against or in respect of the Debtor or the Property shall be commenced or continued except with the written consent of the Receiver or with leave of this Court and any and all Proceedings currently under way against or in respect of the Debtor or the Property are hereby stayed and suspended pending further Order of this Court.

NO EXERCISE OF RIGHTS OR REMEDIES

9. THIS COURT ORDERS that all rights and remedies against the Debtor, the Receiver, or affecting the Property, are hereby stayed and suspended except with the written consent of the Receiver or leave of this Court, provided however that this stay and suspension does not apply in respect of any "eligible financial contract" as defined in the BIA, and further provided that nothing in this paragraph shall (i) empower the Receiver or the Debtor to carry on any business which the Debtor is not lawfully entitled to carry on, (ii) exempt the Receiver or the Debtor from compliance with statutory or regulatory provisions relating to health, safety or the environment, (iii) prevent the filing of any registration to preserve or perfect a security interest, or (iv) prevent the registration of a claim for lien.

NO INTERFERENCE WITH THE RECEIVER

10. THIS COURT ORDERS that no Person shall discontinue, fail to honour, alter, interfere with, repudiate, terminate or cease to perform any right, renewal right, contract, agreement, licence or permit in favour of or held by the Debtor and relating to the Property, without written consent of the Receiver or leave of this Court.

CONTINUATION OF SERVICES

11. THIS COURT ORDERS that all Persons having oral or written agreements with the Debtor relating to the Property or statutory or regulatory mandates for the supply of goods and/or services,

including without limitation, all computer software, communication and other data services, accounting services, centralized banking services, payroll services, insurance, transportation services, utility or other services to the Debtor relating to the Property are hereby restrained until further Order of this Court from discontinuing, altering, interfering with or terminating the supply of such goods or services as may be required by the Receiver, and that the Receiver shall be entitled to the continued use of the Debtor's current telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, internet addresses and domain names, provided in each case that the normal prices or charges for all such normal payment practices of the Debtor or such other practices as may be agreed upon by the supplier or service provider and the Receiver, or as may be ordered by this Court.

RECEIVER TO HOLD FUNDS

12. THIS COURT ORDERS that all funds, monies, cheques, instruments, and other forms of payments received or collected by the Receiver from and after the making of this Order from any source whatsoever, including without limitation the sale of all or any of the Property and the collection of any accounts receivable in whole or in part, whether in existence on the date of this Order or hereafter coming into existence, shall be deposited into one or more new accounts to be opened by the Receiver (the "**Post Receivership Accounts**") and the monies standing to the credit of such Post Receivership Accounts from time to time, net of any disbursements provided for herein, shall be held by the Receiver to be paid in accordance with the terms of this Order or any further Order of this Court.

EMPLOYEES

13. THIS COURT ORDERS that all employees of the Debtor shall remain the employees of the Debtor until such time as the Receiver, on the Debtor's behalf, may terminate the employment of such employees. The Receiver shall not be liable for any employee-related liabilities, including any successor employer liabilities as provided for in subsection 14.06(1.2) of the BIA, other than such amounts as the Receiver may specifically agree in writing to pay, or in respect of its obligations under subsections 81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the *Wage Earner Protection Program Act*.

PIPEDA

14. THIS COURT ORDERS that, pursuant to clause 7(3)(c) of the Canada *Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act*, the Receiver shall disclose personal information of identifiable individuals to prospective purchasers or bidders for the Property and to their advisors, but only to the extent desirable or required to negotiate and attempt to complete one or more sales of the Property (each, a "**Sale**"). Each prospective purchaser or bidder to whom such personal information is disclosed shall maintain and protect the privacy of such information and limit the use of such information to its evaluation of the Sale, and if it does not complete a Sale, shall return all such information to the Receiver, or in the alternative destroy all such information. The purchaser of any Property shall be entitled to continue to use the personal information provided to it, and related to the Property purchased, in a manner which is in all material respects identical to the prior use of such information by the Debtor, and shall return all other personal information to the Receiver, or ensure that all other personal information is destroyed.

LIMITATION ON ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES

15. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing herein contained shall require the Receiver to occupy or to take control, care, charge, possession or management (separately and/or collectively, "**Possession**") of any of the Property that might be environmentally contaminated, might be a pollutant or a contaminant, or might cause or contribute to a spill, discharge, release or deposit of a substance contrary to any federal, provincial or other law respecting the protection, conservation, enhancement, remediation or rehabilitation of the environment or relating to the disposal of waste or other contamination including, without limitation, the *Canadian Environmental Protection Act*, *1999*, the Ontario *Environmental Protection Act*, the *Ontario Water Resources Act* or the Ontario *Occupational Health and Safety Act* and regulations thereunder (the "**Environmental Legislation**"), provided however that nothing herein shall exempt the Receiver from any duty to report or make disclosure imposed by applicable Environmental Legislation. The Receiver shall not, as a result of this Order or anything done in pursuance of the Receiver's duties and powers under this Order, be deemed to be in Possession of any of the Property within the meaning of any Environmental Legislation, unless it is actually in possession.

LIMITATION ON THE RECEIVER'S LIABILITY

16. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver shall incur no liability or obligation as a result of its appointment or the carrying out the provisions of this Order, save and except for any gross negligence or wilful misconduct on its part, or in respect of its obligations under subsections 81.4(5) or 81.6(3) of the BIA or under the *Wage Earner Protection Program Act*. Nothing in this Order shall derogate from the protections afforded the Receiver by section 14.06 of the BIA or by any other applicable legislation.

RECEIVER'S ACCOUNTS

17. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and counsel to the Receiver shall be paid their reasonable fees and disbursements, in each case at their standard rates and charges unless otherwise ordered by the Court on the passing of accounts, and that the Receiver and counsel to the Receiver shall be entitled to and are hereby granted a charge (the "**Receiver's Charge**") on the Property, as security for such fees and disbursements, both before and after the making of this Order in respect of these proceedings, and that the Receiver's Charge shall form a first charge on the Property in priority to all security interests, trusts (including, without limitation, deemed trusts), liens, charges and encumbrances, statutory or otherwise, in favour of any Person except those in favour of CIBC, but subject to subsections 14.06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the BIA.

18. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver and its legal counsel shall pass their accounts from time to time, and for this purpose the accounts of the Receiver and its legal counsel are hereby referred to a judge of the Commercial List of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice.

19. THIS COURT ORDERS that prior to the passing of its accounts, the Receiver shall be at liberty from time to time to apply reasonable amounts, out of the monies in its hands, against its fees and disbursements, including legal fees and disbursements, incurred at the standard rates and charges of the Receiver or its counsel, and such amounts shall constitute advances against its remuneration and disbursements when and as approved by this Court.

- 11 -

FUNDING OF THE RECEIVERSHIP

20. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be at liberty and it is hereby empowered to borrow by way of a revolving credit or otherwise, such monies from time to time as it may consider necessary or desirable, provided that the outstanding principal amount does not exceed \$200,000 (or such greater amount that is acceptable to the Applicant and as this Court may by further Order authorize) at any time, at such rate or rates of interest as it deems advisable for such period or periods of time as it may arrange, for the purpose of funding the exercise of the powers and duties conferred upon the Receiver by this Order, including interim expenditures. The whole of the Property shall be and is hereby charged by way of a fixed and specific charge (the "**Receiver's Borrowings Charge**") as security for the payment of the monies borrowed, together with interest and charges thereon, in priority to all security interests, trusts (including, without limitation, deemed trusts), liens, charges and encumbrances, statutory or otherwise, in favour of any Person except those in favour of CIBC, but subordinate in priority to the Receiver's Charge and the charges as set out in subsections 14.06(7), 81.4(4), and 81.6(2) of the BIA.

21. THIS COURT ORDERS that neither the Receiver's Borrowings Charge nor any other security granted by the Receiver in connection with its borrowings under this Order shall be enforced without leave of this Court.

22. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver is at liberty and authorized to issue certificates substantially in the form annexed as Schedule "B" hereto (the "**Receiver's Certificates**") for any amount borrowed by it pursuant to this Order.

23. THIS COURT ORDERS that the monies from time to time borrowed by the Receiver pursuant to this Order or any further order of this Court and any and all Receiver's Certificates evidencing the same or any part thereof shall rank on a *pari passu* basis, unless otherwise agreed to by the holders of any prior issued Receiver's Certificates.

SERVICE AND NOTICE

24. THIS COURT ORDERS that the E-Service Protocol of the Commercial List (the "**Protocol**") is approved and adopted by reference herein and, in this proceeding, the service of documents made in accordance with the Protocol (which can be found on the Commercial List

website at <u>http://www.ontariocourts.ca/scj/practice/practice-directions/toronto/e-service-protocol/</u>) shall be valid and effective service. Subject to Rule 17.05 this Order shall constitute an order for substituted service pursuant to Rule 16.04 of the *Rules of Civil Procedure*. Subject to Rule 3.01(d) of the *Rules of Civil Procedure* and paragraph 21 of the Protocol, service of documents in accordance with the Protocol will be effective on transmission. This Court further orders that a Case Website shall be established in accordance with the Protocol with the following URL: ksvadvisory.com/experience/case/30-roe-investments-corp-.

25. THIS COURT ORDERS that if the service or distribution of documents in accordance with the Protocol is not practicable, the Receiver is at liberty to serve or distribute this Order, any other materials and orders in these proceedings, any notices or other correspondence, by forwarding true copies thereof by prepaid ordinary mail, courier, personal delivery or facsimile transmission to the Debtor's creditors or other interested parties at their respective addresses as last shown on the records of the Debtor and that any such service or distribution by courier, personal delivery or facsimile transmission shall be deemed to be received on the next business day following the date of forwarding thereof, or if sent by ordinary mail, on the third business day after mailing.

GENERAL

26. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver may from time to time apply to this Court for advice and directions in the discharge of its powers and duties hereunder.

27. THIS COURT ORDERS that nothing in this Order shall prevent the Receiver from acting as a trustee in bankruptcy of the Debtor.

28. THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or in the United States to give effect to this Order and to assist the Receiver and its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order. All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies are hereby respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide such assistance to the Receiver, as an officer of this Court, as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order or to assist the Receiver and its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order.

29. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Receiver be at liberty and is hereby authorized and empowered to apply to any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body, wherever located, for the recognition of this Order and for assistance in carrying out the terms of this Order, and that the Receiver is authorized and empowered to act as a representative in respect of the within proceedings for the purpose of having these proceedings recognized in a jurisdiction outside Canada.

30. THIS COURT ORDERS that the Applicant shall have its costs of this Application, up to and including entry and service of this Order, provided for by the terms of the Applicant's security or, if not so provided by the Applicant's security, then on a substantial indemnity basis to be paid by the Receiver from the net realizations from the Property with such priority and at such time as this Court may determine.

31. THIS COURT ORDERS that any interested party may apply to this Court to vary or amend this Order on not less than seven (7) days' notice to the Receiver and to any other party likely to be affected by the order sought or upon such other notice, if any, as this Court may order.

32. THIS COURT ORDERS that this Order and all of its provisions are effective as of 12:01 a.m. Toronto Time on the date of this Order and are enforceable without the need for entry and filing.

and

Digitally signed by Mr. Justice Cavanagh

SCHEDULE "A" DESCRIPTION OF REAL PROPERTY

PIN 76559 - 0508 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 1, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 1 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0509 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 2, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 2 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0510 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 3, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 3 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0511 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 4, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 4 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0512 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 5, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 5 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0513 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 6, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 6 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0514 LT *Interest/Estate* Fee Simple

Description UNIT 7, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

- 4 -

Address 7 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0515 LT *Interest/Estate* Fee Simple

Description UNIT 8, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 8 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0516 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 9, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address PH09 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0582 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 59, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0583 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 60, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0584 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 61, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0585 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 62, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

- _ -

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0586 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 63, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0587 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 64, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0588 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 65, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0589 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 66, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0590 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 67, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0621 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 98, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

- - -

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0622 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 99, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0623 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 100, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0624 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 101, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0625 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 102, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0626 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 103, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0627 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 104, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

- _ -

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0628 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 105, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0629 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 106, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

SCHEDULE "B" RECEIVER CERTIFICATE

CERTIFICATE NO.

AMOUNT \$

1. THIS IS TO CERTIFY that KSV Restructuring Inc., the receiver and manager (the "**Receiver**") of (i) the real property legally described in Schedule "A" to the Order (as defined below) (the "**Real Property**"), (ii) all of the assets, undertakings and properties of 30 Roe Investments Corp. (the "**Debtor**") acquired for, used in connection with, situate at, or arising from the ownership, development, use or disposition of, the Real Property, including the proceeds therefrom, and (iii) all of the Debtor's rights, claims, advantages, benefits, title and interest in, to and under all agreements, leases, documents, permits, approvals, licenses and instruments in respect of the Real Property"), appointed by Order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the "**Court**") dated the 6th day of May, 2022 (the "**Order**") made in an application having Court file number CV-22-00674810-00CL, has received as such Receiver from the holder of this certificate (the "**Lender**") the principal sum of \$______, being part of the total principal sum of \$______, which the Receiver is authorized to borrow under and pursuant to the Order.

2. The principal sum evidenced by this certificate is payable on demand by the Lender with interest thereon calculated and compounded [daily][monthly not in advance on the _____ day of each month] after the date hereof at a notional rate per annum equal to the rate of _____ per cent above the prime commercial lending rate of Bank of _____ from time to time.

3. Such principal sum with interest thereon is, by the terms of the Order, together with the principal sums and interest thereon of all other certificates issued by the Receiver pursuant to the Order or to any further order of the Court, a charge upon the whole of the Property, in priority to the security interests of any other person, but subject to the priority of the charges set out in the Order and in the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, and the right of the Receiver to indemnify itself out of such Property in respect of its remuneration and expenses.

4. All sums payable in respect of principal and interest under this certificate are payable at the main office of the Lender at Toronto, Ontario.

5. Until all liability in respect of this certificate has been terminated, no certificates creating charges ranking or purporting to rank in priority to this certificate shall be issued by the Receiver to any person other than the holder of this certificate without the prior written consent of the holder of this certificate.

6. The charge securing this certificate shall operate so as to permit the Receiver to deal with the Property as authorized by the Order and as authorized by any further or other order of the Court.

7. The Receiver does not undertake, and it is not under any personal liability, to pay any sum in respect of which it may issue certificates under the terms of the Order.

DATED the _____ day of _____, 2022.

KSV Restructuring Inc., solely in its capacity as Receiver of the Property, and not in its personal capacity

Per:

Name: Title:
IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION UNDER SUBSECTION 243(1) OF THE *BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT*, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, AS AMENDED, AND SECTION 101 OF THE *COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT*, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, AS AMENDED

KINGSETT MORTGAGE CORPORATION	and	30 ROE INVESTMEN	TS CORP.
Applicant		Respondent	Court File No.: CV-22-00674810-00CL
			ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST) Proceedings commenced in Toronto
			ORDER (APPOINTING RECEIVER)
			BENNETT JONES LLP One First Canadian Place, Suite 3400 P.O. Box 130 Toronto, ON M5X 1A4
			Richard Swan (LSO# 32076A) Tel: (416) 777-7479 Email: <u>swanr@bennettjones.com</u>
			Sean Zweig (LSO# 57307I) Tel: (416) 777-6254 Email: <u>zweigs@bennettjones.com</u>
			Joshua Foster (LSO# 79447K) Tel: (416) 777-7906 Email: <u>fosterj@bennettjones.com</u>
			Lawyers for the Applicant

Appendix "B"

ksv advisory inc.



First Report of KSV Restructuring Inc. as Receiver of certain property of 30 Roe Investments Corp.

July 7, 2022

Contents

1.0	ntroduction1	
2.0	Background 3 .1 Overview 3 .2 Creditors 3 .2.1 Secured Creditors 3 .2.2 Canada Revenue Agency 4 .3 Procedural History 4	3 3 4 4
3.0	Receiver's Activities	333
4.0	ale Process	
5.0	Records and Property Relief13	3
6.0	Conclusion and Recommendation14	ŀ

Appendices Appendix

ndix	Tab
Recivership Order	A
CRA Letter	В
Endorsement of Justice Penny dated April 11, 2022	C
Endorsement of the Honourable Justice Cavanagh issued on May 9,	, 2022D
Reasons of the Court of Appeal dated June 17, 2022	E
Letter dated May 9, 2022 to the Company's counsel	F
May 11 Tenant Letter	G
Letter dated May 11, 2022 to the Receiver from the Company	Н
Letter dated May 12, 2022 to the Receiver from the Company	I
Letter dated May 12, 2022 from Receiver's Counsel to Company Co	unselJ
Letter dated June 13, 2022 from Receiver's Counsel to Company Co	ounselK
Letter dated June 14, 2022 from the Company's counsel to the Rece	eiver's Counsel
enclosing Surveillance Video	L
Letter dated June 14, 2022 from the Receiver to the tenants	M
Letter dated June 15, 2022 from Receiver's Counsel to the Company	/N

Letter dated June 16, 2022 from the Company to the Receiver's Counsel	С
Letter dated June 22, 2022, from Receiver's Counsel to the Company	Ρ
Letter dated June 29, 2022, from the Company to Receiver's Counsel	ລ
Letter dated July 4, 2022, from Receiver's Counsel to the Company	R
Letter dated June 21, 2022 from the Company to the Receiver	S
Proposed Listing Agreement	Т
Email dated July 6, 2022 from the Company to the Receiver's Counsel	J



COURT FILE NO.: CV-22-00674810-00CL

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

BETWEEN:

KINGSETT MORTGAGE CORPORATION

Applicant

- and -

30 ROE INVESTMENTS CORP.

Respondent

APPLICATION UNDER SUBSECTION 243(1) OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, AS AMENDED, AND SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, AS AMENDED

FIRST REPORT OF KSV RESTRUCTURING INC. AS RECEIVER

July 7, 2022

1.0 Introduction

- 1. This report ("Report") is filed by KSV Restructuring Inc. ("KSV") in its capacity as receiver and manager (the "Receiver") of (i) the real property legally described in Schedule "A" (the "Real Property"), (ii) all of the assets, undertakings and properties of 30 Roe Investments Corp. (the "Company") acquired for, used in connection with, situated at, or arising from the ownership, development, use or disposition of, the Real Property, including the proceeds therefrom, and (iii) all of the Company's rights, claims, advantages, benefits, title and interest in, to and under all agreements, leases, documents, permits, approvals, licenses and instruments in respect of the Real Property and all monies or proceeds payable thereunder (collectively, the "Property").
- 2. The Real Property consists of nine penthouse condominium units, nine parking spaces and nine storage units and/or lockers in a condominium development known as "Minto 30 Roe", located at 30 Roehampton Avenue in Toronto, Ontario (collectively, the "Units").
- 3. Pursuant to an order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the "Court") made on May 9, 2022 (the "Receivership Order"), KSV was appointed Receiver. A copy of the Receivership Order is attached as Appendix "A".
- 4. Additional information about the receivership is provided on the Receiver's website at: <u>https://www.ksvadvisory.com/experience/case/30-roe-investments-corp-</u>.

1.1 Purposes of this Report

- 1. The purposes of this report ("Report") are to:
 - a) provide background information about these proceedings;
 - b) summarize the Receiver's activities since the commencement of the receivership proceedings, including the Receiver's attempts to obtain certain Records (as defined in the Receivership Order) and Property from the Company and its principal, Raymond Zar ("Zar");
 - summarize a proposed sale process (as described in Section 4 of this Report) (the "Sale Process") pursuant to which the Units are to be marketed for sale, including the proposed retention of HomeLife Landmark Realty Inc. ("HomeLife") to act as listing agent for the Units; and
 - d) recommend that the Court make orders:
 - i. approving the Sale Process, including the retention of HomeLife to list the Units for sale pursuant to a listing agreement to be entered into between HomeLife and the Receiver (the "Listing Agreement");
 - ii. directing the Company and Zar to provide certain Records and Property to the Receiver on the terms contemplated by the draft order included in the Receiver's motion record (the "Records and Property Relief"); and
 - iii. approving the Receiver's activities as described in the First Report.

1.2 Currency

1. Unless otherwise noted, all currency references in this Report are to Canadian dollars.

1.3 Restrictions

- 1. In preparing this Report, the Receiver has relied upon the limited Records obtained from the Company and KingSett Mortgage Corporation ("KingSett"), and correspondence with Zar on behalf of the Company (the "Information").
- 2. The Receiver has not audited, or otherwise attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of the financial information relied on to prepare this Report in a manner that complies with Canadian Auditing Standards ("CAS") pursuant to the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada Handbook and, accordingly, the Receiver expresses no opinion or other form of assurance contemplated under the CAS in respect of such information. Any party wishing to place reliance on the financial information should perform its own diligence.

2.0 Background

2.1 Overview

- 1. The Company is a privately held company incorporated under the *Canada Business Corporations Act.* The Company's registered head office is located at 2 Bloor Street East, Suite 3500, Toronto, Ontario. The Company's sole director is Zar.
- 2. The Units are in a thirty-five storey, 397-unit condominium building in Toronto. The Receiver understands from the Company that the Units are fully occupied and have been furnished by the Company, and that an affiliate of the Company provides housekeeping services for the Units. The Receiver understands from discussions and correspondence with the Company and its review of bank records that most of the Units are rented via Airbnb. A summary of the current status of the Units as provided by the Company is set out below:

Unit Number	Occupancy	Notes
PH01	Short term rental	Prepaid until August 27, 2022
PH02	Short term rental	Prepaid until August 1, 2022
PH03	Long term lease	Prepaid until August 1, 2022, then rented
		at a higher rate
PH04	Short term rental	Prepaid until August 5, 2022
PH05	Long term lease	Prepaid until June 29, 2022
PH06	Short term rental	Prepaid until October 1, 2022
PH07	Short term rental	Prepaid until July 25, 2022
PH08	Short term rental	Prepaid until August 12, 2022
PH09	Short term rental	Prepaid until August 1, 2022

2.2 Creditors

2.2.1 Secured Creditors

- 1. The Canadian Imperial Bank of Commerce ("CIBC") holds a first mortgage on each of the Units and other security. The Receiver understands each CIBC mortgage only secures the indebtedness owing by the Company in respect of a particular Unit (ranging from approximately \$360,000 to \$620,000). CIBC has advised that, as at June 20, 2022, it was owed a total of approximately \$4.2 million by the Company and that interest and costs continue to accrue.
- 2. On April 8, 2019, KingSett advanced a non-revolving demand loan to the Company, which originally was for the principal amount of \$1.5 million, but was later increased to \$1.875 million (the "KingSett Loan"). The KingSett Loan is secured by a second mortgage on each of the Units, a general security agreement and other security. KingSett has advised that, as at June 21, 2022, it was owed a total of approximately \$2.2 million and that interest and costs continue to accrue.

2.2.2 Canada Revenue Agency

- 1. On July 5, 2022, the Receiver received a letter (the "CRA Letter") from Canada Revenue Agency ("CRA") dated June 14, 2022 indicating that the Company owes CRA \$39,225.38, comprised of a trust claim relating to harmonized sales tax ("HST") of \$32,765.01 and penalties and interest of \$6,460.37. A copy of the CRA Letter is attached as Appendix "B".
- 2. On July 5, 2022, a representative of the Receiver spoke to a representative of CRA, who advised that the Company has not filed any HST returns for the period commencing January 1, 2020, to the date of the receivership.

2.2.3 Other Creditors

- 1. The Royal Bank of Canada ("RBC") has advised the Receiver that the Company has a Canada Emergency Benefit Account loan with a fully drawn outstanding balance of \$60,000. In addition, RBC has advised the Company has outstanding credit card debt.
- 2. Loop Funding Inc. had a financing statement registered against the Company under the Ontario personal property security registry, although that registration recently expired. The Receiver is not aware what, if any, obligations may be owing by the Company to Loop Funding Inc.
- 3. As discussed in greater detail below, the Receiver has asked the Company on numerous occasions for information concerning the Company's creditors. To date, no information in this regard has been provided to the Receiver. Accordingly, the Receiver has been unable to compile complete creditor lists, which are required for the Receiver's statutory report to the Office of Superintendent of Bankruptcy ("OSB").¹ Accordingly, all information about the indebtedness of the Company in this Report should be considered preliminary.

2.3 Procedural History

- 1. The original KingSett Loan maturity date was in April 2021 (subject to earlier demand by KingSett). The KingSett Loan was extended several times, with a final maturity date set for December 1, 2021. The Company did not repay the KingSett Loan on December 1, 2021.
- 2. On December 13, 2021, KingSett issued a demand letter and gave notice of intention to enforce security in accordance with Section 244 of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* (the "BIA").
- 3. On January 7, 2022, KingSett served the receivership application. The application was first heard on January 17, 2022. At that hearing, the Company was not represented by legal counsel and Zar requested an adjournment to retain legal counsel on behalf of the Company to respond to the receivership application. The Court granted an adjournment to February 22, 2022.

¹ The Receiver is required to send the report to all creditors and the OSB. Since the Receiver did not have any information concerning creditors (other than CIBC and KingSett) at the time, it sent the report to the OSB, CIBC and KingSett.

- 4. On February 22, 2022, Paliare Roland Rosenberg Rothstein LLP ("Paliare") appeared on behalf of the Company. The Company requested a further adjournment and the Court granted an adjournment to March 28, 2022.
- 5. On March 4, 2022, Paliare served a motion to be removed as counsel of record for the Company. The Company opposed Paliare's motion. At a case conference convened on March 8, 2022, the Court set a hearing date for Paliare's motion of April 11, 2022, with the result that the hearing of the receivership application was further adjourned to May 6, 2022.
- 6. On April 11, 2022, the Court granted Paliare's motion to be removed as counsel of record for the Company. A copy of the related Endorsement of Justice Penny dated April 11, 2022, is attached as Appendix "C".
- 7. A further case conference was convened on April 20, 2022, to set a timetable for steps leading to the scheduled May 6, 2022, hearing of the receivership application.
- 8. On May 6, 2022, the receivership application was heard by the Court. The Company was represented at the hearing by Danson & Zucker. The Company sought a further adjournment, but the adjournment request was denied. On May 7, 2022, the Court granted the Receivership Order. A copy of the Endorsement of the Honourable Justice Cavanagh issued on May 9, 2022, in connection with the Receivership Order is attached as Appendix "D".
- 9. On May 10, 2022, the Company served a Notice of Appeal of the Receivership Order (the "Appeal Notice"), and on May 19, 2022, the Company served a Notice of Motion for Leave to Appeal the Receivership Order. The Company was represented by Solmon Rothbart Tourgis Slodovnick LLP ("Solmon Rothbart") in connection with appeal matters.
- 10. In response to the Appeal Notice, KingSett served a motion to quash the Company's appeal of the Receivership Order.
- 11. On June 13, 2022, the Court of Appeal for Ontario granted KingSett's motion to quash and dismissed the Company's motion for leave to appeal the Receivership Order from the bench (the "Appeal Decision"). A copy of the reasons of the Court of Appeal dated June 17, 2022, are attached as Appendix "E".
- 12. On June 16, 2022, the Receiver learned that the Company had terminated Danson & Zucker's retainer and that Solmon Rothbart had only been retained to argue the appeal. Since June 16, 2022, the Receiver and its counsel have dealt directly with Zar. To the best of the knowledge of the Receiver, the Company has not appointed new counsel or brought a motion pursuant to Rule 15.02(2) for leave to proceed without being represented by a lawyer.

3.0 Receiver's Activities

- 1. Following the granting of the Receivership Order, the Receiver's counsel sent a letter to the Company's counsel dated May 9, 2022, requesting certain Records from the Company, a copy of which is attached as Appendix "F". The Records requested by the Receiver related to insurance, leases of the Units, bank accounts, details of the Property and a listing of creditors. On May 10, 2022, the Receiver registered the Receivership Order on title to the Units. In addition, on May 11, 2022, the Receiver caused a letter to be delivered to tenants of the Units advising of the appointment of the Receiver, providing a link to the copy of the Receivership Order posted on the Receiver's website and advising that the Receiver was empowered and authorized to collect all rent payments, and directing that all rent and other payments be paid directly to the Receiver (the "May 11 Tenant Letter"). A copy of the May 11 Tenant Letter is attached as Appendix "G". The May 11 Tenant Letter was delivered to the tenants by an independent contractor engaged by the Receiver.
- 2. On May 11, 2022, the Company's counsel delivered a letter to the Receiver's counsel advising the Receivership Order was stayed as a result of the filing of the Appeal Notice. In addition, on May 12, 2022, counsel to the Company delivered further correspondence to the Receiver alleging that the Receiver was acting "in the face of the stay" and that the Receiver had "...misrepresented itself to occupants of the [Units] by stating that there has been a change in ownership." Copies of these letters are attached as Appendix "H" and "I".
- 3. On May 12, 2022, the Receiver's counsel responded to counsel to the Company to follow up on the Receiver's Records request and advise of the Receiver's view that leave to appeal was required to appeal the Receivership Order and, accordingly, that there was no stay of the Receivership Order unless and until leave was granted by the Court of Appeal. A copy of this letter is attached as Appendix "J". The Receiver also responded to the allegation that it had made misrepresentations. It denied making the alleged statements, because it had not made any misrepresentations and was not aware at the time of any incorrect statements made by the independent contractor it had engaged to deliver the May 11 Tenant Letter.
- 4. Given the differing views of the parties as to the status of the Receivership Order pending appeal, in the mid-to-late May 2022 timeframe, the Receiver pursued discussions with the Company through counsel regarding a potential consensual arrangement being reached regarding delivery of Records to the Receiver and preservation of the Property and rent payments pending appeal. No consensual arrangement was reached, and none of the requested Records were otherwise delivered by the Company to the Receiver at this time. Given the then pending hearing before the Court of Appeal scheduled for June 13, 2022, and following consultation with CIBC and KingSett, the Receiver determined not to seek any relief in relation to the delivery of Records or compliance with the Receivership Order by the Company at that juncture.
- 5. Following the Appeal Decision, on June 13, 2022, counsel to the Receiver wrote to counsel to the Company to again demand delivery of the Records that had been requested on May 9, 2022. A copy of this letter is attached as Appendix "K". No Records were delivered by the Company in response to this letter.

- 6. On June 14, 2022, counsel to the Company wrote to the Receiver's counsel outlining certain allegations of the Company in respect of the Receiver's conduct, specifically that the Receiver had informed tenants/guests that there was a "new owner" of the Units, that the Company had "grave concerns with respect to this conduct and the independence of the Receiver as court appointed officer" and that the Receiver should not be the Receiver and the Company was in the process of contacting other possible receivers that may be prepared to act. The letter also enclosed a surveillance video which the Company's counsel advised was taken on the penthouse floor of Minto 30 Roe. A copy of this letter is attached as Appendix "L", and the Receiver will make arrangements for the surveillance video to be filed with the Court.
- Following receipt and review of the June 14 letter (including the surveillance video). 7. the Receiver made inquiries of the independent contractor it had engaged to deliver the May 11 Tenant Letter. To the best of the information and belief of the Receiver, including based on discussions with the independent contractor, the surveillance video shows representatives of the independent contractor delivering the May 11 Tenant Letter to tenants of the Units, including engaging in brief discussions with certain tenants. In certain of those discussions with tenants, it appears representatives of the contractor used the words "owner changing" (or similar words) while delivering a copy of the May 11 Tenant Letter. As noted previously, the May 11 Tenant Letter advised of the appointment of the Receiver, provided a link to a copy of the Receivership Order and described that the Receiver was empowered and authorized to receive and collect all rent payments pursuant to the Receivership Order. In addition, on June 14, 2022, the Receiver delivered a further letter to tenants, a copy of which is attached as Appendix "M", to again advise of the Receivership Order and to update on the status of the case, including the Appeal Decision. In the circumstances, the Receiver is of the view that there is no risk of any actual misunderstanding on the part of the tenants regarding the impact of the Receivership Order. Further, the Receiver does not believe the discussions shown on the video undermine either the Receiver's independence of the conduct of the receivership. By letter dated June 15, 2022, counsel to the Receiver responded to the Company's allegations, including advising of the foregoing. A copy of this letter is attached as Appendix "N".
- 8. The Receiver's counsel's June 15, 2022 letter also noted that the Company had again failed to deliver the Records demanded by the Receiver, advised that the Company was in breach of the Receivership Order, and that the Receiver intended to bring a motion to address these matters and seek approval of a sale process. Counsel requested that Company counsel confirm its availability for a hearing on July 7, 2022.
- 9. Zar responded on behalf of the Company by letter dated June 16, 2022, a copy of which is attached as Appendix "O". In this letter, Zar advised, among other things, that the Company would provide the information requested by the Receiver but that the Company required clarification on the list of Records requested. Zar also advised that he had reported the actions on the surveillance video to the Office of the Superintendent of Bankruptcy.

10. Since June 16, 2022, the Receiver's counsel and Zar², on behalf of the Company, have exchanged numerous further letters and emails regarding, among other things: (i) the Receiver's continuing demands for Records and the delivery of certain Property, including keys for the Units; (ii) the timing of the Court hearing and whether the Company intended to engage new counsel; (iii) the payment of critical expenses relating to the Units and other operational matters pertaining to the Units; (iv) the Company's apparent continued dealing with the Property, and (v) a proposed refinancing Zar has advised the Company is pursuing. The most recent letters exchanged between the Receiver's counsel and the Company with respect to certain of these matters are attached as Appendix "P", "Q" and "R" and the current status of these matters is described in the following paragraphs.

3.1 Requests for Records and Property

- 1. By letter dated June 21, 2022, a copy of which is attached as Appendix "S", the Company delivered certain of the Records initially requested by the Receiver on May 9, 2022. However (and despite further follow-ups), the Company has still not provided the Receiver with a listing of creditors or details of any Property aside from the Units and the RBC Account (as defined below), indicating it requires more time to provide this information. In addition, the Company has not delivered copies of any leases in respect of the Units to the Receiver or any post-dated rent cheques that may be in the Company's possession, as has been requested by the Receiver.
- 2. By letter dated July 4, 2022, the Receiver's counsel advised the Company that the Receiver required keys to the Units by the end of the day in order to provide access to a real estate broker for purposes of viewing the Units in connection with the proposed Sale Process. On July 6, 2022, the Company advised it had placed an order for a set of keys for the Units and that they would be provided to the Receiver in the near term. As at the writing of this Report, keys have not been provided to the Receiver.

3.2 Court Date and Company Counsel

1. Regarding the proposed July 7, 2022, Court date, Zar indicated he was unavailable because of a medical procedure. Accordingly, the Receiver obtained an alternate Court date, being July 18, 2022. The Company was advised of the scheduling of this Court date on June 22, 2022. The Receiver has inquired into and recommended that the Company engage new counsel to address receivership matters but, to the knowledge of the Receiver, it has not done so to date.

3.3 Critical Expenses and Operational Matters

1. The Company requested that the Receiver agree to all preauthorized debits under \$1,000 being debited from the Company's bank account without interruption, including preauthorized debits for condo fees, insurance, hydro and telecommunications. The Receiver advised the Company it was not prepared to agree to this request, but that it would consider authorizing specific payments of critical expenses and requested a listing of the critical expenses (including specific payees, amounts and due dates) the Company believed should be paid. To date, the Company has provided information

² At the request of the Receiver's counsel, Danson & Zucker and Solmon Rothbart confirmed they had no objection to the Receiver's counsel dealing with Zar on behalf of the Company in respect of the receivership matters.

in respect of the condo fees and insurance, and the Receiver is in the process of making arrangements for payment of same. The Receiver has requested that the Company advise of any other critical expenses it believes should be paid as soon as possible so that the Receiver can arrange for timely payment of same to the extent it considers appropriate. On July 6, 2022, the Receiver and the Company held a telephone conference to discuss operational matters pertaining to the Units, such as housekeeping and rental of the Units. The Receiver has asked the Company to provide a written summary in this regard for its consideration.

3.4 The Company's Apparent Continued Dealing with the Property

1. Based on correspondence from the Company, it appears as though the Company continues to deal with the Property. The Receiver has advised the Company that it is empowered and authorized to deal with the Property to the exclusion of all other persons, including the Company, and that the Company should be taking no steps to deal with any of the Property, including seeking to rent any of the Units.

3.5 The Company's Proposed Refinancing

- 1. The Company has advised the Receiver that it intends to seek to refinance the KingSett Loan and pursue a consensual discharge of the Receiver.
- 2. On June 20, 2022 (and on numerous subsequent occasions over the course of the following weeks), the Receiver requested further information from the Company in respect of the proposed refinancing, including a copy of a signed commitment letter, so that it could consider same and consult with CIBC and KingSett. In addition, the Receiver facilitated the exchange of information between the Company and KingSett regarding a potential refinancing, including in relation to a payout statement provided by KingSett. The Receiver's counsel also engaged in discussions with CIBC's counsel regarding a potential refinancing.
- 3. On July 6, 2022, the Company delivered a commitment letter dated June 10, 2022, for a \$2,000,000 second mortgage loan (the "Commitment Letter"). The Receiver notes that: (i) the Commitment Letter provides that funds must be advanced by June 30, 2022, failing which the commitment will be cancelled or extended at the lender's option; and (ii) the Commitment Letter is subject to numerous conditions. The Receiver has requested that the Company provide a letter from the potential replacement lender indicating the Commitment Letter has been extended past the specified June 30, 2022, cancellation date and that the conditions to the Commitment Letter have been satisfied or waived (or, if not all have been satisfied or waived, specifying which conditions remain to be satisfied or waived).
- 4. The Receiver also notes that the Commitment Letter does not provide sufficient financing to discharge the KingSett Loan or address the costs of the receivership.³ In the cover email enclosing the Commitment Letter, Zar advised that "The delta between the amount required to payout KingSett, costs and discharge the Receiver and the amount listed on the commitment will be funded by me personally." The Receiver has requested evidence from Zar showing sufficient liquid resources to bridge this funding gap.

³ In addition, the Commitment Letter contemplates the indebtedness owing to CIBC remaining in place.

5. The Receiver intends to further engage with the Company, CIBC, KingSett and any other interested stakeholders regarding a potential refinancing. In the event a consensual refinancing is agreed amongst the parties, the Receiver will advise the Court.

3.6 Additional Activities

- 1. Notwithstanding the limited cooperation of the Company to date, the Receiver has advanced the receivership proceedings as expeditiously and efficiently as possible. In addition to addressing and dealing with the matters described previously, the Receiver has:
 - a) corresponded with the Royal Bank of Canada regarding the Company's bank account (the "RBC Account"), including requesting a freeze of any withdrawals or debits from the RBC account and transferring approximately \$30,000 from the RBC Bank Account to the Receiver's bank account;
 - b) retrieved and reviewed available public information in respect of the Units;
 - c) pursuant to the terms of the Receivership Order, requested, received and reviewed information from KingSett in respect of the Property;
 - d) prepared and filed the Receiver's notice pursuant to subsections 245(1) and 246(1) of the BIA;
 - e) added the Receiver as loss payee and named insured under the Company's insurance policy for the Units;
 - f) corresponded with the property manager for Minto 30 Roe regarding, among other things, obtaining access to the Units;
 - g) held numerous discussions and corresponded with CIBC, KingSett and the Company concerning the receivership proceedings, including as relates to the refinancing the Company has indicated it is pursuing;
 - h) advanced preparations for the Sale Process; and
 - i) prepared this Report.

4.0 Sale Process

- 1. Following the Appeal Decision, the Receiver solicited proposals from four realtors to act as listing agent to market and sell the Units. In determining which realtors to approach, the Receiver selected four brokers who had extensive experience selling resale residential units in the Minto 30 Roe. Realtors were provided one week to submit their proposal. Realtors were advised that their retention was subject to Court approval.
- 2. Three proposals were submitted to the Receiver by the realtors approached. The Receiver held multiple phone calls with the realtors that submitted proposals, including to clarify aspects of their proposals.

- 3. Ultimately, the Receiver selected HomeLife Landmark Realty Inc. ("HomeLife") to act as listing agent as:
 - a) HomeLife's proposed commission rate of 3.5% was the lowest of the proposals;
 - b) Erkan Sen ("Sen"), who will be the lead agent, has been involved in ten transactions in Minto 30 Roe;
 - c) Sen has over 14 years of experience selling residential condominiums in Toronto, Ontario; and
 - d) HomeLife is a well recognized regional brokerage with over 1,600 agents primarily operating in the Greater Toronto and Hamilton regions.
- 4. A copy of the proposed Listing Agreement is attached as Appendix "T".
- 5. The proposed Sale Process for the Units is as follows:
 - a) the Receiver, with the assistance of HomeLife and the Receiver's counsel, will administer, supervise, facilitate and oversee the Sale Process with a view to maximizing value for the Units in a timely manner. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Receiver shall have the authority to determine, from time to time and its sole discretion: (i) which and how many of the Units are to be listed for sale; and (ii) the listing prices for the Units, including any changes to listing prices;
 - b) HomeLife will: (i) prepare marketing materials for the Units, including a brochure, website, photographs and floor plans; (ii) send an email and newsletter regarding the opportunity to its database of parties, including industry contacts, potential buyers and the brokerage community; (iii) post the Units on the Toronto Real Estate Board Multiple Listing Service ("MLS"); and (iv) hold open houses for the Units;
 - c) The Units will be marketed on an "as is, where is" basis;
 - d) Any offer(s) to purchase a Unit will be reviewed and considered by the Receiver as and when received. The Receiver shall have the sole discretion to determine whether or not to accept or reject an offer and how to otherwise deal with an offer, including, without limitation, as relates to any negotiations with a prospective purchaser and entering into any agreement of purchase of sale in respect of a Unit, provided that any transaction in respect of a Unit will be subject to Court approval; and
 - e) Without limiting the factors that may be considered by the Receiver in reviewing and considering an offer for a Unit, the Receiver will have regard to: (i) the consideration offered; (ii) any conditions to closing or other factors that may impact the ability of a transaction to be consummated; and (iii) the proposed closing date.

- 6. Although the proposed Sale Process applies to all of the Units, at present the Receiver only intends to list two Units (including the related parking spot and storage unit/locker) for sale. The Receiver is proposing to sell the Units in stages because, among other things:
 - a) it does not know how many Units are required to be sold to repay KingSett, or whether CIBC wishes to be repaid the entirety of the indebtedness owing to it; and
 - b) the Receiver is concerned (including based on the advice of HomeLife and other realtors) that if a majority of the Units were listed for sale at once, it could have a negative impact on the sale price for the Units given they are all located in the same building (and on the same floor).
- 7. If possible, the Receiver intends to list two Units that have been vacated. If this is not possible, the Receiver intends to rely on HomeLife's advice on which Units to list. To the extent transactions are entered into in respect of one or both of these Units, the Receiver will report to the Court regarding its plans for the listing of additional Unit(s).
- 8. HomeLife has advised that it requires access to the Units to determine a proposed listing price. To date, the Receiver has been unable to access the Units for the reasons described previously in this Report. The Receiver is hopeful that it will obtain the keys from the Company consensually, failing which it will make arrangements to access the Units and change the locks so that HomeLife can view the Units and provide a proposed listing price. The Receiver expects to file a supplemental report to advise of the proposed listing prices in advance of the July 18 hearing.
- 9. On July 5, 2022, the Receiver sent the proposed Sale Process to counsel to CIBC, counsel to KingSett and the Company to solicit feedback. KingSett has advised it supports the proposed Sale Process. The Company provided feedback via email, a copy of which is attached as Appendix "U". As at the writing of this Report, the Receiver had not received feedback from CIBC.

4.1 Sale Process Recommendation

- 1. The Receiver recommends that this Court issue an Order approving the Sale Process for the following reasons:
 - a) in the Receiver's view, the proposed Sale Process is commercially reasonable and consistent with other real property sale processes approved by this Court in other cases;
 - b) the Receiver sought and received listing proposals from various experienced realtors and chose Mr. Sen of HomeLife, who has completed 10 transactions at Minto 30 Roe; and
 - c) based on the Receiver's experience, the Receiver believes that the commission payable to HomeLife under the Listing Agreement is reasonable.

5.0 Records and Property Relief

- 1. The Receiver was appointed as receiver and manager of the Property. Paragraph 3(a) of the Receivership Order authorizes and empowers the Receiver "to take possession of and exercise control over the Property" and paragraph 5 requires all persons to, among other things, deliver all Property in such person's possession or control to the Receiver upon the Receiver's request.
- 2. Further, paragraph 5 of the Receivership Order requires all persons to "forthwith advise the Receiver of the existence of any books, documents, securities, contracts, orders, corporate and accounting records, and any other papers, records, information and cloud based data of any kind related to the Property, and any computer programs, computer tapes, computer disks, cloud or other data storage media containing any such information (the foregoing, collectively, the "Records") in that Person's possession or control, and shall provide to the Receiver or permit the Receiver to make, retain and take away copies thereof and grant to the Receiver unfettered access to and use of accounting, computer, software, cloud and physical facilities relating thereto...".
- 3. As described previously in this Report, the Receiver has been unable to obtain various Records and Property from the Company notwithstanding repeated requests and demands. In particular, at present, the following Records and Property have not been delivered to the Receiver:
 - a) list of creditors, including their addresses and amounts owing to each creditor;
 - b) details of the Property (aside from the Units and the RBC Bank Account);
 - c) copies of any leases in respect of the Units;
 - d) any post-dated rent cheques for the Units; and
 - e) the keys to the Units (although, as previously noted, the Company has recently indicated these will be provided shortly).
- 4. Although the Receiver believes that the Company (and Zar in his capacity as a director of the Company and in his personal capacity) are required to deliver all of the foregoing to the Receiver pursuant to the Receivership Order, the Receiver seeks a further specific order of the Court requiring the Company and Zar to provide these items by a specified date. In addition, the relief sought would require the Company and Zar to deliver any further Records or Property requested by the Receiver from time to time by no later than the day and time specified by the Receiver in any such request; provided, however, that the day and time specified by the Receiver in any such request shall be no less than three (3) days following the sending of such request by the Receiver.
- 5. Given the difficulties experienced by the Receiver in obtaining access to the Records and the Property from the Company and Zar to date, the Receiver believes the Records and Property Relief is necessary and appropriate in the circumstances. To the extent the Company provides the requested Records and Property prior to the July 18 hearing, the Receiver will update the Court via a supplemental report or at the hearing.

6.0 Conclusion and Recommendation

1. Based on the foregoing, the Receiver respectfully recommends that this Honourable Court make orders granting the relief detailed in Section 1.1(1)(d) of this Report.

* * *

All of which is respectfully submitted,

KSV Bestructuring Inc.

KSV RESTRUCTURING INC. SOLELY IN ITS CAPACITY AS COURT APPOINTED RECEIVER AND MANAGER OF CERTAIN PROPERTY OF 30 ROE INVESTMENTS CORP. AND NOT IN ITS PERSONAL OR CORPORATE CAPACITIES Appendix "C"



Court File No. CV-22-00674810-00CL

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

THE HONOURABLE)
)
JUSTICE MCEWEN)

MONDAY, THE 18TH DAY OF JULY, 2022

BETWEEN:

KINGSETT MORTGAGE CORPORATION

Applicant

- and –

30 ROE INVESTMENTS CORP.

Respondent

IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION UNDER SUBSECTION 243(1) OF THE BANKRUPTCY AND INSOLVENCY ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, AS AMENDED, AND SECTION 101 OF THE COURTS OF JUSTICE ACT, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, AS AMENDED

ORDER

THIS MOTION, made by KSV Restructuring Inc., in its capacity as the Court-appointed receiver and manager (in such capacity, the "Receiver") without security, of (i) the real property legally described in Schedule "A" hereto (the "Real Property"), (ii) all assets, undertakings and properties of 30 Roe Investments Corp. (the "Debtor") acquired for, used in connection with, situate at, or arising from the ownership, development, use or disposition of, the Real Property, including the proceeds therefrom, and (iii) all of the Debtor's rights, claims, advantages, benefits, title and interest in, to and under all agreements, leases, documents, permits, approvals, licenses and instruments in respect of the Real Property and all monies or proceeds payable thereunder

(collectively with (i), (ii) and (iii), the "**Property**"), for an order, among other things: (i) abridging and validating service of the Notice of Motion and Motion Record herein; and (ii) directing the Debtor and Raymond Zar ("**Zar**") to deliver various Records and Property to the Receiver further to the terms of the Receivership Order granted in the within proceedings dated May 9, 2022 (the "**Receivership Order**"), was heard this day by Zoom videoconference due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

ON READING the Motion Record of the Receiver dated July 7, 2022, including the First Report of the Receiver dated July 7, 2022 (including the appendices thereto), the Supplement to the First Report of the Receiver dated July 15, 2022 (including the appendix thereto), and on hearing the submissions of counsel for the Receiver, counsel for the Debtor and counsel for KingSett Mortgage Corporation and such other counsel as were present, no one else appearing although properly served as appears from the Affidavits of Service of Brennan Caldwell sworn July 7 and July 11, 2022.

SERVICE AND DEFINITIONS

1. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that the time for service and filing of the Notice of Motion and Motion Record is hereby abridged and validated so that this Motion is properly returnable today and hereby dispenses with further service thereof.

2. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that all capitalized terms used in this Order and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Receivership Order or the First Report.

3. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that each of the Debtor and Zar are hereby directed to forthwith, and by no later than 3:00 pm (Toronto time) on the date that is three days following the date of this Order, deliver to the Receiver the following Records and Property to the extent in the power, possession or control of the Debtor or Zar:

- 3 -

- (a) a list of the creditors of the Debtor, including the addresses and amounts owing to each creditor;
- (b) details of all Property (other than the Real Property and the RBC Bank Account);
- (c) copies of any leases in respect of the Real Property;
- (d) any post-dated rent cheques in respect of the Real Property; and
- (e) the keys for the Real Property and any security cards, fobs or similar items required to access the Real Property or the Minto 30 Roe at 30 Roehampton Avenue, Toronto, Ontario.

4. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that each of the Debtor and Zar are hereby directed to deliver such further Records or Property as may be requested in writing by the Receiver from time to time to the extent in the power, possession or control of the Debtor or Zar by no later than the day and time specified by the Receiver in any such request; provided, however, that the day and time specified by the Receiver in any such request shall be no less than three (3) days following the sending of such request by the Receiver.

GENERAL

5. **THIS COURT HEREBY REQUESTS** the aid and recognition of any court, tribunal, regulatory or administrative body having jurisdiction in Canada or in the United States to give effect to this Order and to assist the Receiver and its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order. All courts, tribunals, regulatory and administrative bodies are hereby respectfully requested to make such orders and to provide such assistance to the Receiver, as an officer of this Court, as may be necessary or desirable to give effect to this Order or to assist the Receiver and its agents in carrying out the terms of this Order.

6. **THIS COURT ORDERS** that this Order and all of its provision are effective as of 12:01 a.m. on the date of this Order.

hat

SCHEDULE A

DESCRIPTION OF REAL PROPERTY

PIN 76559 - 0508 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 1, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 1 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0509 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 2, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 2 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0510 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 3, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 3 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0511 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 4, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 4 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0512 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 5, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 5 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0513 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

- 5 -

Description UNIT 6, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 6 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0514 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 7, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 7 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0515 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 8, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 8 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0516 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 9, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address PH09 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0582 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 59, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0583 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 60, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0584 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

- 6 -

Description UNIT 61, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0585 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 62, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0586 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 63, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0587 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 64, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0588 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 65, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0589 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 66, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0590 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

- 7 -

Description UNIT 67, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0621 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 98, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0622 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 99, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0623 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 100, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0624 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 101, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0625 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 102, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0626 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

- 8 -

Description UNIT 103, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0627 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 104, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0628 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 105, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0629 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 106, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

Court File No./N° du dossier du greffe : CV-22-00674810-00CL

Court File No. CV-22-00674810-00CL

KINGSETT MORTGAGE CORPORATION

Applicant

30 ROE INVESTMENTS CORP.

Respondent

ONTARIO SUPERIOR COURT OF JUSTICE (COMMERCIAL LIST)

Proceeding commenced at Toronto

ORDER

GOODMANS LLP Barristers & Solicitors

- and -

333 Bay Street, Suite 3400 Toronto, Canada M5H 2S7

Chris Armstrong (LSO# 55148B) carmstrong@goodmans.ca

Tel: (416) 979-2211 Fax: (416) 979-1234

Counsel to KSV Restructuring Inc., solely in its capacity as Court-appointed Receiver and not in its personal capacity

CO

Appendix "D"

Barristers & Solicitors

Bay Adelaide Centre 333 Bay Street, Suite 3400 Toronto, Ontario M5H 2S7

Telephone: 416.979.2211 Facsimile: 416.979.1234 goodmans.ca

Direct Line: 416.849.6013 carmstrong@goodmans.ca

July 19, 2022

Kramer Simaan Dhillon LLP 120 Adelaide St. W. Suite 2100 Toronto, ON M5H 1T1

Attn: Micheal Simaan

Dear Mr. Simaan:

Re: Receivership of 30 Roe Investments Corp. (Court File No.: CV-22-00674810-00CL)

As you know, we are counsel to KSV Restructuring Inc. in its capacity as the Court-appointed receiver and manager (the "**Receiver**") of certain property of 30 Roe Investments Corp (the "**Debtor**") pursuant to the Order (Appointing Receiver) of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (the "**Court**") dated May 9, 2022 (the "**Receivership Order**"). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined have the meaning given them in the Receivership Order.

Please find enclosed a copy of the Order of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice dated July 18, 2022 (the "**Records and Property Order**"), directing the Debtor and Raymond Zar to deliver certain Records and Property to the Receiver forthwith and by no later than 3:00 pm (Toronto time) on July 21, 2022 (see paragraph 3 of the Records and Property Order for particulars in this regard).

In addition, pursuant to paragraph 4 of the Order, this letter is to request that the Debtor and Mr. Zar deliver to the Receiver the Records specified on Schedule "A" hereto by no later than end of day on July 22, 2022 (the "**Records Request**"). To the extent the Debtor is unable to provide any of the Records specified in the Records Request, please provide a written explanation as to why.

The Records should be delivered via email to Murtaza Tallat of the Receiver (<u>mtallat@ksvadvisory.com</u>), or alternatively in hard copy to the attention of Mr. Tallat at:

KSV Restructuring Inc. in its capacity as Receiver of certain property of 30 Roe Investments Corp. 150 King St. W. #2308 Toronto, ON M5H 1J9

The Property should be delivered to the attention of Mr. Tallat at the above noted address.

We trust the Records and Property specified in the Records and Property Order and the Records Request will be delivered to the Receiver strictly in accordance with the Records and Property Order. We note in particular that <u>the Receiver has still not received the keys to the units</u> despite Mr. Zar's advice that they were being couriered to the Receiver on July 14, 2022. If the keys are

not received by the Receiver by July 21, 2022, the Receiver will proceed to change the locks on the units. Even if the keys are provided, the Receiver reserves the right to change the locks pursuant to the provisions of the Receivership Order as it considers appropriate.

We also note that certain of the Records requested are germane to the sale process approved yesterday by the Court, including the Receiver's consideration of the Debtor's position that the units should be sold as a "going concern hospitality business" or otherwise on an *en bloc* basis. By email dated July 10, 2022, we had previously requested any information from your client it would like the Receiver to consider in respect of such a going concern or *en bloc* sale, and to date have not received any response. To the extent there is any information outside the Records Request your client would like the Receiver to consider in this regard, we would again invite the Debtor to provide such information to the Receiver as soon as possible.

Yours truly,

Goodmans LLP

Christopher Armstrong CA/cag

Encl.

SCHEDULE "A"

RECORDS REQUEST

In the matter of the Receivership of 30 Roe Investments Corp. Records Request July 19, 2022

General Note: Where possible, please provide the Records in Excel format.

No. Records Requested

1.0 Tenant/Rental Schedule, by Unit:

1.1	Name and contact details (phone, email) of the tenant
1.2	Current rental rate (daily or monthly)
1.3	Current rental term, including:
	 start date that the existing lease/short term rental was entered into
	- end date of current lease/short term rental
1.4	Any future terms for rentals that have already been signed, including:
	- rental term
	- rental rate
1.5	Identify which parking spots and/or lockers are rented separately from the penthouse units, and provide
	the rental term, rates and contact details for the same.

2.0 Financial Information

2.1	Annual financial statements for the past three fiscal years
2.2	Annual income tax returns for the past three fiscal years
2.3	Monthly financial statements for the past 12 months
2.4	If available, by Unit segregated P&L for the past three fiscal years
2.5	Financial projections and/or budgets for fiscal 2022
2.6	Information required to file all outstanding HST returns, including but not limited to: - CRA "Netfile" password - Monthly revenue for the period with outstanding HST returns - Monthly HST ledger for the period with outstanding HST returns

3.0 Other

3.1	Potential buyers list for the "hospitality business" the Debtor states it conducts
1	Summary from Airbnb and/or other short-term rental platforms of all rentals in the past 12 months, for each Unit, including period of stay and amount paid by tenant

Appendix "E"

Barristers & Solicitors

Bay Adelaide Centre 333 Bay Street, Suite 3400 Toronto, Ontario M5H 2S7

Telephone: 416.979.2211 Facsimile: 416.979.1234 goodmans.ca

Direct Line: 416.849.6013 carmstrong@goodmans.ca

July 25, 2022

Kramer Simaan Dhillon LLP 120 Adelaide St. West, Suite 2100 Toronto, ON M5H 1T1

Attention: Michael Simaan

Dear Mr. Simaan:

Re: Receivership of 30 Roe Investments Corp. (Court File No. CV-22-00674810-00CL)

We write further to our letter of July 19, 2022, to which we have received no reply, as well as in connection with the sale process approved by the Court on July 18, 2022 (the "**Sale Process**").¹

Pursuant to the Order of the Honourable Justice McEwen of the Court dated July 18, 2022 (the "**Records and Property Order**"), the Debtor and Raymond Zar were directed to deliver certain Records and Property to the Receiver by no later than 3:00pm (Toronto time) on July 21, 2022 (see paragraph 3 of the Records and Property Order for particulars in this regard). None of the Records and Property specified were received by this deadline and thus the Debtor and Mr. Zar are in breach of the Records and Property Order.

Further, pursuant to paragraph 4 of the Records and Property Order, our July 19 letter requested that the Debtor and Mr. Zar deliver the Records specified on Schedule "A" thereto by no later than end of day on July 22, 2022 (the "**Requested Records**"). None of the Requested Records were received by the specified deadline. This is a further breach of the Records and Property Order.

We note specifically that, despite repeated requests and repeated confirmations from Mr. Zar that keys to the condo units (the "**Units**") would be provided to the Receiver, they were never received. Accordingly, the Receiver has made arrangements for the locks to the Units to be changed and has delivered a letter dated July 22, 2022, notifying each of the tenants of same.

Further, the Receiver has learned that a tenant delivered post-dated rent cheques to the Debtor for Unit PH05 for the period through July 2023, which cheques have never been turned over to the Receiver despite repeated requests to do so. These post-dated rent cheques (and any other post-dated rent cheques held by the Debtor or Mr. Zar and any other rent payable in connection with the Units) should be immediately delivered to the Receiver and we are putting the Debtor and Mr. Zar on express notice that any attempt to negotiate or otherwise deal with any post-dated rent cheques or to otherwise receive rent for the Units is a breach of the Receivership Order.

In all of the circumstances, it now seems apparent that, despite the Debtor and Mr. Zar's many confirmations they intended to comply with the Receivership Order, they have no intention of doing so. Accordingly, the

¹ Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined have the meaning given them in the Order (Appointing Receiver) of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (the "**Court**") dated May 9, 2022.

Page 2

Goodmans

Receiver reserves the right as it deems fit to move for Orders from the Court finding the Debtor and Mr. Zar in contempt of the Receivership Order and the Records and Property Order.

Regarding the Sale Process, no reply has been received to the Receiver's requests of July 10 and July 19 for information, including financial information, that would support the Debtor and Mr. Zar's contention that the Units should be sold *en bloc* or as a "going concern hospitality business" to maximize value. Accordingly, the Receiver has been unable to assess the viability of selling the Units in this fashion and intends to proceed with the sale of two Units at this time in accordance with the Sale Process approved by the Court.

As advised in our email of July 22, 2022, one of the first Units the Receiver intends to list for sale is PH09, which the Receiver understands will be vacated on or before July 31, 2022. The Receiver is making inquiries to determine when additional Units will be vacated. As previously advised on numerous occasions, the Debtor and Mr. Zar are prohibited from dealing with the Property, including, without limitation, seeking to rent out any of the Units. Any step or attempt by the Debtor or Mr. Zar to rent PH09 or any other Unit would be viewed by the Receiver not only as a breach of the Receivership Order, but also as an attempt by your client to frustrate the Sale Process approved by the Court. Accordingly, without limiting the Receiver's prior direction to cease any dealing with the Property generally, we are putting your client on specific notice that if it seeks to rent PH09 or any other Unit, the Receiver intends to seek immediate relief from the Court to address this conduct, including a contempt motion. If the Debtor has already rented any Units after the dates they are scheduled to be vacated as indicated by the Debtor in its correspondence to the Receiver dated June 21, 2022, please advise the Receiver immediately and provide contact information for the prospective tenants.

Finally: (i) could you please confirm whether you act for both the Debtor and Mr. Zar, or only the Debtor (your initial correspondence to us suggested you acted for both the Debtor and Mr. Zar, but we would appreciate your confirmation in this regard); and (ii) as previously requested, could you please arrange for your office to serve and file a notice of change of lawyer for the Debtor so we can update the service list accordingly.

Yours truly,

Goodmans LLP

Christopher Armstrong CA/cag 7290376
Appendix "F"

Barristers & Solicitors

Bay Adelaide Centre 333 Bay Street, Suite 3400 Toronto, Ontario M5H 2S7

Telephone: 416.979.2211 Facsimile: 416.979.1234 goodmans.ca

Direct Line: 416.849.6013 carmstrong@goodmans.ca

Goodmans

July 22, 2022

Via Email

Airbnb 888 Brannan St. San Francisco, California USA 94103

Attention: Tariq Remtulla

Dear Tariq:

Re: Request for Records from Airbnb - Receivership of 30 Roe Investments Corp. -Court File No.: CV-22-00674810-00CL

We are counsel to KSV Restructuring Inc. in its capacity as receiver and manager (the "**Receiver**") of certain Property of 30 Investments Corp. (the "**Debtor**") pursuant to the Order (Appointing Receiver) of the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) dated May 9, 2022 (the "**Receivership Order**"). Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined have the meaning given to them in the Receivership Order. A copy of the Receivership Order is enclosed with this letter and information on the case and Court filings are available at the following link: https://www.ksvadvisory.com/experience/case/30-roe-investments-corp-.

We were provided your contact information by Chris Burr and understand you are internal legal counsel at Airbnb.

The most significant Property owned by the Debtor are nine penthouse condominium units, which are municipally described as PH01-PH09, 30 Roehampton Avenue (the "Minto 30 Roe" building) in Toronto, Ontario, Canada, M4P 0B9 (collectively, the "**Units**"). The legal description for the Units is provided in Schedule "A" of the Receivership Order.

The Receiver understands that certain of the Units are rented or listed for rent via Airbnb (see https://www.airbnb.ca/users/show/188684555). On July 18, 2022, the Court approved a sale process for the Units. The Debtor and its principal, Raymond Zar, have refused to provide the Receiver with information regarding the Airbnb rentals notwithstanding that they are required to do so pursuant to the Receivership Order and a further order of the Court granted on July 18, 2022. The Receiver is concerned, among other things, that some of the Units will be sold that have upcoming rentals with Airbnb and the Receiver would like to try and address this issue in as orderly a manner as possible.

Goodmans

Pursuant to paragraphs 4 and 5 of the Receivership Order, all Persons are required provide all Property and records related to the Property to the Receiver. The Receiver requires all Records pertaining to the Units in Airbnb's possession, including, without limitation:

- contact information for each of the tenants and any future tenants;
- occupancy dates (date commenced and end date of occupation);
- rental fees;
- a history of all rentals for the past year; and
- all account information regarding the listings for the Units, including specifying all listings for the Units and account login credentials.

Please provide this information to us by Monday, July 25, 2022.

Please also be advised that pursuant to the Receivership Order, the Receiver is exclusively charged to deal with the Units, to the exclusion of all other Persons, including the Debtor (see paragraph 3 of the Receivership Order). The Receiver has reason to believe that the Debtor may be continuing to attempt to rent the Units on Airbnb notwithstanding prior demands from the Receiver to cease doing so. Accordingly, no further rentals of the Units should be permitted via Airbnb without the express prior written consent of the Receiver and, pending further direction from the Receiver, any listings for the Units should be removed from the Airbnb platform.

Further, no payments should be made by Airbnb to the Debtor in respect of the Units and all such payments should be made directly to the Receiver (see paragraph 3(f) of the Receivership Order). Any payments due by Airbnb in connection with the Units may be directed to the Receiver's bank account as follows:

Bank of Montreal 1 First Canadian Place 100 King Street West Toronto, ON M5X 1A3

Bank Transit (ABA)#:	00022
Bank Institution #:	001
Bank Account #:	1628 008
Bank Swift code:	BOFMCAM2
Name of account:	KSV Restructuring Inc., Receiver of 30 Roe Investments Corp.

If there is a better person at Airbnb to address these requests, we would appreciate if you could forward this letter to their attention and advise us of the contact details for that person as soon as

Goodmans

possible. The Receiver may also have additional requests from Airbnb as it continues to review these matters.

Thank you for your assistance and please contact the undersigned if you have any questions.

Yours truly,

Goodmans LLP

Ct.

Christopher Armstrong

cc.

Noah Goldstein, KSV Restructuring Inc.

7290272

Appendix "G"

Court File Number: <u>CU-22-0067480-000</u>

Superior Court of Justice Commercial List

FILE/DIRECTION/ORDER



Case Management I Yes I No by Judge:_

8

Direction for Registrar (No formal order need be taken out) Order Above action transferred to the Commercial List at Toronto (No formal order need be taken out)

Adjourned to: _ Time Table approved (as follows):

ecenter bringe (Λ) us h en equinine esr Com 5 on 00055 H TT Date Judge's Signature Additional Pages_13 Fotal

Superior Court of Justice Commercial List

Judges Endorsment Continued Pop inf 1 Pand me ON s d 7 140 20 Sens Pri 11 N od eenand <u>CO) 0</u> ARVie PNO econo 230 50 mission . OCDA SD COM regi river ersone 20 0 2000 Page _ of Judges Initials _

Superior Court of Justice Commercial List

Judges Endorsment Continued <u>Poceiver's</u> reaves repeted 00 Caves 25 N COi IPA OCOMO O 220 Cono O 00 NPCessa 00 DON O OCEILO SURAM PA and nsine 25 Dono ARC e0 Ot 3 Page ____ of Judges Initials

Superior Court of Justice Commercial List

Judges Endorsment Continued Clored IND Olver O700 107 m< m 0 Q in 00 ()vor Oca ren P1 ITA or olivers 0 67 01 hours 0 Din Man V 20 160 Ox S bachen Kher. \cap WE 600 C 0 Ø non V Page ___ of Judges Initials _

Superior Court of Justice Commercial List

Judges Endorsment Continued Second F mo 4 That $\sim oi$ 18 mpol 08 (10m Cor nan Ch D 10 5 reipc a por Son resonate Pa ena -25 noncro IRN Powe 1001 in 00 k 576 20 Dmo 0 08 φ_{l} cone 0 ()9 or piner that ral 1580 0 1001 O Recare 0 ceo 0 Page _ Judges Initials _ of

Superior Court of Justice Commercial List

Judges Endorsment Continued erid SO 0100 o d 101 0 5 15 PDI 50 LAD PER no VO 5 W aim OPER S 0)vor Dor 20 0 ror N 10 a 01 C M and O esonnal rea. 200 Da Con 17 h no 11 re Prp 0 0 5 ~ 5(Dm D 8 101 0 951 Jan Por 36 -90 100 Q \mathcal{O} Java O der 2 C er 6 of V Page ___ Judges Initials

Superior Court of Justice Commercial List

Judges Endorsment Continued De Qn ZMOM one 50 DC PLR O 0 NA DC in h Oe RSOW CA poul an 0 m DAA D. MÁ N Se canor verised $\overline{}$ Pr aga 0 all C 04 0 C Que stong-headed-21 re 0 Page _ of Judges Initials

Superior Court of Justice Commercial List

Judges Endorsment Continued Con annie Oviso PUE spite Ol-Responde P 0 a har 0 0 Forme Services model a erred = ral or 00 l 91 mei Spanol 005 CLWEN 201 5 5 scian 15 Pol (0) $^{\circ}$ Page _ Judges Initials _ Units an altractive busives opportunity.

Superior Court of Justice Commercial List

Judges Endorsment Continued hat espende provided 8 0 gotha SSP on Oer \cap Nres 20 1 1 C Ch 0 CO i. 200 Ner 0 Da *ivered* ONE on a 000 surd Open ver er in C 'On DINT ain nvenou oM 5 O W NO onCer P Ja Po Page _ of Judges Initials

Superior Court of Justice Commercial List

Judges Endorsment Continued nob nort hi lor 0 CA 11 1095 CN te Por 0 NO 00 NOR 1 1 inda W s -aposon 00 ona annissia FR. CIWE 00 20 0 in 011 02 10 700 Page _____ of ___ Judges Initials _

Superior Court of Justice Commercial List

Judges Endorsment Continued Holdrape revosed)rocess Clownees W hersive man 00 113 aco 10-Cowse 000 2. 2 centre ere roces Cammerc 0 Serre nolos 01 louis a Th work Para Do date motion Sind Page _____ of ____ **Judges Initials** 2. The entire Sales Process is set out in Section 4.0 of the Receives First Report which I have reviewed

Superior Court of Justice Commercial List

Judges Endorsment Continued What Jac ſ, mour 6 are OCRIVE-Une 0 ma CA -cl ì 25 TSID S m OPTIPE 6 inon'ie 02)on 1 r VA O Q 129 Perise C m 20 R r Na Ο cover 8 00 gain 0 C 0 8 00 Sin TC 00 \mathcal{O} S epine ~ Sala 10 C 1 NO OT Page _ Judges Initials _

Superior Court of Justice Commercial List

Judges Endorsment Continued P i a and DGAOV Rr 5 pa tron on 00 0d -10 ssicur 0 2 2 15 ences 0 ACLO n C Page 3 of 12 Judges Initials

Appendix "H"

LISTING AGREEMENT

This Listing Agreement ("Agreement") for nine penthouse condominium units, nine parking spaces and nine storage units and/or lockers in a condominium development known as "Minto 30 Roe", located at 30 Roehampton Avenue in Toronto, Ontario (each a "Unit" and collectively, the "Units"), the property identification numbers for which are included in Schedule "A", is entered into by and between (i) HomeLife Landmark Realty Inc. (the "Listing Brokerage") and (ii) KSV Restructuring Inc. (the "Seller"), without personal or corporate liability and solely in its capacity as receiver and manager pursuant to the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* R.S.C., 1985, c. B-3, as amended, and the Ontario *Courts of Justice Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, as amended (in such capacity, the "Receiver"), of among other things, (i) the Units; and (ii) all of the assets, undertakings and properties of 30 Roe Investments Corp. (the "Company") acquired for, used in connection with, situated at, or arising from the ownership, development, use or disposition of, the Units, including the proceeds therefrom.

In consideration of the covenants, agreements, representations and warranties contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, receipt of which is acknowledged by each of the parties hereto, each of the Listing Brokerage and the Seller acknowledge and agree as follows:

1. <u>Engagement of Listing Brokerage.</u> Subject to approval of this Agreement by the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the "Court"), the Seller hereby engages the Listing Brokerage to assist in marketing and selling the Units on and subject to the terms hereof.

2. <u>Termination Rights.</u> The Seller may, without penalty or cost to the Seller, terminate this Agreement at any time if the Listing Brokerage is in breach of any of its obligations hereunder or under any other agreement with the Seller. In addition, this Agreement shall automatically terminate without penalty or cost to either party if: (a) the Court order appointing the Seller as Receiver and/or the Seller's appointment as Receiver of the Units is revoked, suspended or terminated or the Seller otherwise ceases to be the Receiver; (b) the Seller is restricted in or enjoined from dealing with the Units by a court of competent jurisdiction; (c) any of the mortgagees of the Units or any other future lenders of the Court does not approve this Agreement or the sale process proposed by the Receiver in respect of the Units; or (e) the Company is permitted to exercise the equity of redemption in respect of any of the Units.

3. <u>Acceptance of Offers.</u> While it is the Seller's intention to obtain the highest and best offers for the Units, the Listing Brokerage acknowledges and agrees that the Seller need not accept the highest offer and/or the best offer or any offer for any Unit, and that acceptance by the Seller of any offer for a Unit is subject at all times to the Seller's approval in its sole and absolute discretion, as well as approval by the Court. No fee, commission or other compensation (including the Listing Fee, as defined below) shall be payable to the Listing Brokerage under this Agreement or in respect of a Unit unless and until the sale of such Unit has been completed and the Seller has received the purchase price in full for such Unit.

- 4. Listing Brokerage's Duties. The Listing Brokerage covenants and agrees with the Seller to:
 - (a) pursuant to the Seller's written instructions, list one or more of the Units for sale, in a manner agreed to with the Seller, on the Multiple Listing Service ("MLS") for a price to be stipulated by the Seller with the commissions to any Cooperating Agent (as defined below) being \$1.00 (it being the intention that the Listing Brokerage shall pay the Cooperating Agent's commission from the Listing Fee as provided for in Section 5);
 - (b) diligently market the Units listed for sale and use commercially reasonable efforts to sell such Units;
 - (c) only list Units for sale when requested in writing by the Seller to do so. The Seller will advise the Listing Brokerage in writing when and which Units to list for sale and such determination shall be in the sole, absolute and unfettered discretion of the Seller. In that respect, the Seller expects to list two Units for sale at this time;

- (d) if required in the Seller's sole discretion, stage and clean the Units to be listed for sale;
- (e) co-operate with all licensed real estate brokers and agents in the sale of the Units (collectively the "**Cooperating Agents**" and each a "**Cooperating Agent**"), with any commissions or fees of such Cooperating Agents to be paid by the Listing Brokerage out of the Listing Fee as provided for in Section 5;
- (f) ensure that there is continuity in the assignment of individual staff members and agents to the work performed by the Listing Brokerage under the terms of this engagement. In particular, the Listing Brokerage agrees to ensure that individual staff members originally assigned, including Erkan Sen (collectively the "Listing Team"), perform work in connection with the Listing Brokerage's engagement, and will each be available and will devote the time required to undertake the assignment contemplated herein;
- (g) subject to the instructions of the Seller, to assist the Seller in negotiating binding agreements of purchase and sale subject to Court approval with those parties identified by the Seller. Only the Seller shall have authority to accept offers and the Listing Brokerage shall not have any authority whatsoever to enter into any agreement of purchase and sale or other contract on behalf of the Seller or to otherwise bind the Seller in any manner whatsoever;
- (h) continue to assist the Seller in connection with the sale of listed Units and seeking Court approval after the execution of a binding agreement of purchase and sale with respect to a Unit until such sale has been successfully concluded; and
- (i) unless the Seller's written consent is provided in advance, to act solely for the benefit of the Seller in connection with the marketing and sale of the Units and not to have any direct or indirect interest in any purchaser or potential purchaser of a Unit, and not to receive any payment or other benefit from a purchaser or potential purchaser of a Unit except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement.

5. Commission Payable to the Listing Brokerage. The Seller shall pay to the Listing Brokerage, upon the successful closing of a sale of a Unit entered into during the Listing Period or the Holdover Period (as defined below, and subject to the provisions of Section 6) and the receipt of all sale proceeds in respect of such sale by or on behalf of the Seller, a commission equal to 3.5% of the purchase price of such Unit, inclusive of the Cooperating Agent commission (a "Listing Fee"). Any Listing Fee shall be split 2% in favour of the Cooperating Agent and 1.5% in favour of the Listing Brokerage, and the Listing Brokerage agrees to forthwith pay 2% of a Listing Fee to the Cooperating Agent upon receipt of such Listing Fee. A Cooperating Agent may be employed at the Listing Brokerage so long as they are not a member of the Listing Team. In the event a member of the Listing Team represents a purchaser of a Unit (which representation shall be subject to the prior written consent of the Receiver is in its sole and absolute discretion), the Listing Fee shall be reduced to 3% of the purchase price of such Unit, provided that the Listing Brokerage shall be entitled to retain the entirety of such 3% Listing Fee in such circumstances as agent for the Seller and the purchaser. For greater certainty, other than the Listing Team, all other agents shall be treated as third party Cooperating Agents, shall not be provided with any confidential information in respect of the Units and shall be compensated pursuant to this Agreement as a Cooperating Agent. The Seller acknowledges that payment of HST applies on all commissions payable. The Seller agrees to notify the Listing Brokerage of the successful completion of a closing of a Unit. The Seller will instruct its solicitors to pay a Listing Fee payable to the Listing Brokerage hereunder directly out of the proceeds of sale of a Unit and to have same addressed as a closing cost of the transaction. For the avoidance of doubt, in no circumstance shall any Listing Fee or other compensation be payable to the Listing Brokerage in a circumstance where this Agreement is terminated in accordance with Section 2 hereof.

6. <u>Holdover Period Commission</u>. Any Listing Fee payable to the Listing Brokerage during the holdover period, being three (3) months following the termination of the Listing Agreement ("Holdover **Period**"), shall: (a) only be payable in respect of sales of Units to purchasers who were introduced to the

Seller or to a Unit by the Listing Brokerage during the Listing Period and who the Listing Brokerage has disclosed in writing to the Seller by no later than three (3) days following the expiration or termination of the Agreement; and (b) be reduced by any fee, commission and/or other compensation paid or payable to another broker or agent by the Seller for the sale of such Unit as the new listing brokerage (the "**New Agent**") on the basis of an agreement with the New Agent entered into with respect to the Holdover Period or any portion thereof. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, the Listing Brokerage shall not be entitled to any Listing Fee or other compensation as the Seller's agent in respect of a sale of a Unit entered into during the Holdover Period if any member of the Listing Team represents the purchaser of such Unit.

- 7. Acknowledgments. The Listing Brokerage acknowledges and agrees in favour of the Seller that:
 - (a) the Units are to be marketed and sold on an "as is, where is" basis and, accordingly, any agreement of purchase and sale shall provide for an acknowledgment by the purchaser that such Unit is being sold by the Seller on an "as is, where is" basis, and that, except as may be required by law, no representations or warranties have been or will be made by the Seller in respect of a Unit, including with respect to the condition thereof;
 - (b) in lieu of a transfer of land, the Seller will seek to vest title to any Unit in a purchaser by way of a vesting order of the Court; and
 - (c) the sale of any Unit requires the prior approval of the Court in the Court's sole and absolute discretion.

8. <u>Advertisement Expenses & Third-Party Consultants.</u> All advertising and sales promotion shall be subject to the prior approval of the Seller and all such advertisement and promotional material shall be prepared, published and distributed by the Listing Brokerage and shall be at the sole expense of the Listing Brokerage. All third-party reports and legal service fees requested and/or approved by the Seller shall be at the expense of the Seller.

9. **Indemnity.** The Listing Brokerage confirms that it owes an obligation to the Seller to carry out its activities in respect of this engagement in a competent and professional manner acting reasonably and in good faith and in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. The Listing Brokerage agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Seller and its directors, officers, employees and agents (collectively, the "**Indemnified Party**") from and against any and all claims, losses, damages, liabilities and expenses (including lawyers fees and expenses on a full indemnity basis) (collectively, "Losses") incurred by an Indemnified Party arising out of or in connection with a failure by the Listing Brokerage) to carry out its activities in respect of this engagement in a competent and professional manner acting reasonably and in good faith or the Listing Brokerage's failure to comply with its obligations hereunder, including, without limitation, any Losses incurred by an Indemnified Party. This indemnified Party arising or termination of the Agreement indefinitely.

10. <u>Confidentiality.</u> The Listing Brokerage shall treat and shall cause its employees and agents to treat as confidential and shall not disclose, during as well as after the rendering of the service contracted herein, any confidential information, records or documents to which the Listing Brokerage becomes privy as a result of its performance of the Agreement and shall take all necessary steps to ensure the confidentiality of information in the Listing Brokerage's possession or control except for disclosure that may be required for the reasonable performance by the Listing Brokerage of its responsibilities hereunder or as required by law. These obligations of confidentiality shall be in addition to any obligations of the Listing Broker under any other confidentiality or non-disclosure agreement entered into by the parties.

11. <u>Assignment.</u> This Agreement may not be assigned in whole or in part by the Listing Brokerage without the prior written consent of the Seller which consent may be unreasonably and/or arbitrarily withheld and any assignment made without that consent is void and of no effect.

12. **Warranty.** Subject to the remainder of this Section 12, the Seller represents and warrants that the Seller has the exclusive authority and power to execute this Agreement and to authorize the Listing Brokerage to offer Units for sale; provided however, that this Agreement and the engagement of the Listing Brokerage hereunder and any sale of a Unit is subject to approval of the Court. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Listing Brokerage acknowledges and agrees that the Seller has only limited knowledge about the Units and cannot confirm (i) any third party interests or claims with respect to the Units, which may affect the sale of the Units, and/or (ii) if there are any defects that are hidden, not visible, or discoverable through a reasonable inspection of the Units that may render the Units dangerous or potentially dangerous or may affect the sale of the Units.

13. <u>Counterparts.</u> This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, and each of which so executed shall be deemed to be an original and such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Transmission by e-mail of an executed counterpart of this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute due and sufficient delivery of such counterpart.

14. **Jurisdiction.** This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario. The parties hereby irrevocably attorn to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court with respect to any claim, dispute or other controversy arising under or in connection with this Agreement.

15. <u>Finder's Fees</u>. The Seller **does not** consent to the Listing Brokerage or any Cooperating Agent (or their respective affiliates) receiving and retaining, in addition to the commission provided for or otherwise contemplated in this Agreement, a finder's fee for any financing in respect of the Units.

16. **Verification of Information.** The Seller authorizes the Listing Brokerage to obtain any information from any regulatory authorities, governments, mortgagees or others affecting the Units and the Seller agrees to execute and deliver such further authorizations in this regard as may be reasonably required. For greater certainty, none of the Listing Brokerage or the Listing Brokerage's representatives may bind the Seller or execute any documentation on behalf of the Seller. The Seller hereby authorizes, instructs and directs the above noted regulatory authorities, governments, mortgagees or others to release any and all information to the Listing Brokerage.

17. Listing Period. The term of this Agreement shall begin upon the date this Agreement is executed (the "Commencement Date") and shall expire one minute before midnight on the three month anniversary following the Commencement Date or upon earlier termination as otherwise prescribed herein (the "Listing Period"); provided, however, that the Seller and the Listing Brokerage may agree to extend the Listing Period for a further three month period by mutual agreement in writing. Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, the Listing Brokerage shall not advertise any of the Units on MLS until the Seller provides written authorization to do so and all marketing materials have been approved. The Listing Brokerage shall have one (1) day following said approval to post a Unit on MLS.

18. <u>Conflicts.</u> To the extent that any conflict, potential conflict or inconsistency exists or may exist between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of any other agreement(s) the Seller has entered into with the Listing Brokerage, then the terms of this Agreement shall prevail. If any provision hereof is invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction where this Agreement is to be performed, such provision shall be deemed to be deleted and the remaining portions of this Agreement shall remain valid and binding on the parties hereto.

19. **Entire Agreement/Amendments/Waivers.** This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous written or oral communications, understandings, and agreements with respect to the subject matter hereof. No provision of this Agreement may be amended, modified, waived or changed unless made in writing and signed by the parties.

[Remainder of this page left intentionally blank]

AGREED AND ACCEPTED THIS 7th DAY OF JULY 2022.

HOMELIFE LANDMARK REALTY INC.

Authentisign Erkan Sen Per:

Name: Erkan Sen Title: Broker

KSV RESTRUCTURING INC., SOLELY IN ITS CAPACITY AS COURT APPOINTED RECEIVER AND MANAGER OF CERTAIN PROPERTY OF 30 ROE INVESTMENTS CORP. AND NOT IN ITS PERSONAL OR CORPORATE CAPACITIES

Per:

Name: Noah Goldstein Title: Managing Director

SCHEDULE "A" – UNITS

PIN 76559 - 0508 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 1, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 1 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0509 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 2, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 2 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0510 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 3, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 3 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0511 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 4, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 4 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0512 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 5, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 5 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0513 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 6, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 6 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0514 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 7, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 7 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0515 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 8, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 8 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0516 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 9, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address PH09 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0582 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 59, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0583 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 60, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER

- 8 -

WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0584 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 61, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0585 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 62, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0586 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 63, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0587 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 64, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0588 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 65, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0589 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 66, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0590 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 67, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0621 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 98, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0622 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 99, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0623 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 100, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0624 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 101, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0625 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 102, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0626 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 103, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0627 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 104, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0628 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 105, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0629 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 106, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

7285591

Appendix "I"

Goodmans

Barristers & Solicitors

Bay Adelaide Centre 333 Bay Street, Suite 3400 Toronto, Ontario M5H 2S7

Telephone: 416.979.2211 Facsimile: 416.979.1234 goodmans.ca

Direct Line: 416.849.6013 carmstrong@goodmans.ca

August 5, 2022

Kramer Simaan Dhillon LLP 120 Adelaide St. West, Suite 2100 Toronto, ON M5H 1T1

Attention: Michael Simaan

Dear Mr. Simaan:

Re: Receivership of 30 Roe Investments Corp. (Court File No. CV-22-00674810-00CL)

As you know, we are counsel to KSV Restructuring Inc. in its capacity as receiver and manager (the "**Receiver**") of certain property of 30 Roe Investments Corp. ("**30 Roe**").

The Receiver is in the process of considering whether HST will be chargeable on the sale of the subject condominium units ("**Units**") by the Receiver. One of the factors relevant in this analysis is whether 30 Roe (or any affiliate thereof that acquired the Units) claimed an input tax credit ("**ITCs**") on the last acquisition of each Unit. Please have your client advise as soon as possible and by no later than end of day on <u>August 9, 2022</u> whether or not ITCs were claimed on the last acquisition of each Unit, including providing any relevant supporting documentation relating to this issue. This request is made pursuant to paragraph 4 of the Order of the Honourable Justice McEwen dated July 18, 2022.

We note that if no response is received to this request, the Receiver will have no choice but to assume that ITCs were claimed on the last acquisition of each of the Units, with the result that HST will need to be charged and remitted on the sale of the Units (which, in turn, will decrease the sale proceeds available for distribution to stakeholders). We also note that the ITC issue is not the only relevant factor in determining whether HST is payable on the sale of the Units and the Receiver reserves the right to remit HST on the sale of the Units as required by law.

Yours truly,

Goodmans LLP

Christopher Armstrong CA/cag 7293811

Appendix "J"

The proposed <u>Amended</u> Sale Process for the Units is as follows:

- a) the <u>The</u> Receiver, with the assistance of <u>HomeLifeRemax</u> and the Receiver's counsel, will administer, supervise, facilitate and oversee the <u>Amended</u> Sale Process with a view to maximizing value for the Units in a timely manner. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Receiver shall have the authority to determine, from time to time and its sole discretion: (i) which and how many of the Units are to be listed for sale, and when Units are to be listed for sale; and (ii) the listing prices for the Units, including any changes to listing prices;. For the avoidance of doubt: (i) the Receiver shall have the authority to list any number of the Units for sale at any time as it, following consultation with Remax, determines is appropriate in its sole discretion; (ii) the Receiver shall have the right to list Units for sale that are occupied.
- b) HomeLifeRemax will: (i) prepare marketing materials for the Units, including a brochure, website, photographs and floor plans; (ii) arrange for the Units to be staged as and when they are to be listed for sale, provided that Remax will not be required to stage a Unit that is occupied unless agreed by the Receiver and the occupant; (iii) send an email and newsletter regarding the opportunity to its database of parties, including industry contacts, potential buyers and the brokerage community; (iiiiv) post the Units on the Toronto Real Estate Board Multiple Listing Service ("MLS") as and when they are to be listed for sale; and (ivv) hold open houses for the Units listed for sale to the extent considered appropriate;
- c) The Units will be marketed on an "as is, where is" basis <u>and together with their related</u> <u>parking and storage unit/locker</u>;
- d) Any offer(s) to purchase a Unit will be reviewed and considered by the Receiver as and when received. The Receiver shall have the sole discretion to determine whether or not to accept or reject an offer and how to otherwise deal with an offer, including, without limitation, as relates to any negotiations with a prospective purchaser and entering into any agreement of purchase of sale in respect of a Unit, provided that any transaction in respect of a Unit will be subject to Court approval; and
- e) Without limiting the factors that may be considered by the Receiver in reviewing and considering an offer for a Unit, the Receiver will have regard to: (i) the consideration offered; (ii) any conditions to closing or other factors that may impact the ability of a transaction to be consummated; and (iii) the proposed closing date.

LISTING AGREEMENT

This Listing Agreement ("**Agreement**") for nine penthouse condominium units, nine parking spaces and nine storage units and/or lockers in a condominium development known as "Minto 30 Roe", located at 30 Roehampton Avenue in Toronto, Ontario (each a "**Unit**" and collectively, the "**Units**"), the property identification numbers for which are included in Schedule "A", is entered into by and between (i) RE/MAX Hallmark Realty Ltd., Brokerage. (the "**Listing Brokerage**") and (ii) KSV Restructuring Inc., without personal or corporate liability and solely in its capacity as receiver and manager pursuant to the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act* R.S.C., 1985, c. B-3, as amended, and the Ontario *Courts of Justice Act*, R.S.O. 1990, c. C.43, as amended (in such capacity, the "**Receiver**" or the "**Seller**"), of among other things, (i) the Units; and (ii) all of the assets, undertakings and properties of 30 Roe Investments Corp. (the "**Company**") acquired for, used in connection with, situated at, or arising from the ownership, development, use or disposition of, the Units, including the proceeds therefrom.

In consideration of the covenants, agreements, representations and warranties contained herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, receipt of which is acknowledged by each of the parties hereto, each of the Listing Brokerage and the Seller acknowledge and agree as follows:

1. <u>Engagement of Listing Brokerage.</u> Subject to approval of this Agreement by the Ontario Superior Court of Justice (Commercial List) (the "Court"), the Seller hereby engages the Listing Brokerage to assist in marketing and selling the Units on and subject to the terms hereof.

2. <u>Termination Rights.</u> The Seller may, without penalty or cost to the Seller, terminate this Agreement at any time if the Listing Brokerage is in breach of any of its obligations hereunder or under any other agreement with the Seller. In addition, this Agreement shall automatically terminate without penalty or cost to either party if: (a) the Court order appointing the Seller as Receiver and/or the Seller's appointment as Receiver of the Units is revoked, suspended or terminated or the Seller otherwise ceases to be the Receiver; (b) the Seller is restricted in or enjoined from dealing with the Units by a court of competent jurisdiction; (c) any of the mortgagees of the Units or any other future lenders of the Court does not approve this Agreement or the sale process proposed by the Receiver in respect of the Units; or (e) the Company is permitted to exercise the equity of redemption in respect of any of the Units.

3. <u>Acceptance of Offers.</u> While it is the Seller's intention to obtain the highest and best offers for the Units, the Listing Brokerage acknowledges and agrees that the Seller need not accept the highest offer and/or the best offer or any offer for any Unit, and that acceptance by the Seller of any offer for a Unit is subject at all times to the Seller's approval in its sole and absolute discretion, as well as approval by the Court. No fee, commission or other compensation (including the Listing Fee, as defined below) shall be payable to the Listing Brokerage under this Agreement or in respect of a Unit unless and until the sale of such Unit has been completed and the Seller has received the purchase price in full for such Unit.

- 4. Listing Brokerage's Duties. The Listing Brokerage covenants and agrees with the Seller to:
 - (a) pursuant to the Seller's written instructions, list one or more of the Units for sale, in a manner agreed to with the Seller, on the Multiple Listing Service ("MLS") for a price to be stipulated by the Seller with the commissions to any Cooperating Agent (as defined below) being \$1.00 (it being the intention that the Listing Brokerage shall pay the Cooperating Agent's commission from the Listing Fee as provided for in Section 5);
 - (b) diligently market the Units listed for sale and use commercially reasonable efforts to sell such Units;
 - (c) only list Units for sale when requested in writing by the Seller to do so. The Seller will advise the Listing Brokerage in writing when and which Units to list for sale and such determination shall be in the sole, absolute and unfettered discretion of the Seller.;
 - (d) if required in the Seller's sole discretion, stage and clean the Units to be listed for sale;

- (e) co-operate with all licensed real estate brokers and agents in the sale of the Units (collectively the "**Cooperating Agents**" and each a "**Cooperating Agent**"), with any commissions or fees of such Cooperating Agents to be paid by the Listing Brokerage out of the Listing Fee as provided for in Section 5;
- (f) ensure that there is continuity in the assignment of individual staff members and agents to the work performed by the Listing Brokerage under the terms of this engagement. In particular, the Listing Brokerage agrees to ensure that individual staff members originally assigned, including Gloria Yeung (collectively the "Listing Team"), perform work in connection with the Listing Brokerage's engagement, and will each be available and will devote the time required to undertake the assignment contemplated herein;
- (g) subject to the instructions of the Seller, to assist the Seller in negotiating binding agreements of purchase and sale subject to Court approval with those parties identified by the Seller. Only the Seller shall have authority to accept offers and the Listing Brokerage shall not have any authority whatsoever to enter into any agreement of purchase and sale or other contract on behalf of the Seller or to otherwise bind the Seller in any manner whatsoever;
- (h) continue to assist the Seller in connection with the sale of listed Units and seeking Court approval after the execution of a binding agreement of purchase and sale with respect to a Unit until such sale has been successfully concluded; and
- (i) unless the Seller's written consent is provided in advance, to act solely for the benefit of the Seller in connection with the marketing and sale of the Units and not to have any direct or indirect interest in any purchaser or potential purchaser of a Unit, and not to receive any payment or other benefit from a purchaser or potential purchaser of a Unit except as expressly contemplated by this Agreement.

5. **Commission Payable to the Listing Brokerage.** The Seller shall pay to the Listing Brokerage, upon the successful closing of a sale of a Unit entered into during the Listing Period or the Holdover Period (as defined below, and subject to the provisions of Section 6) and the receipt of all sale proceeds in respect of such sale by or on behalf of the Seller, a commission equal to 3.5% of the purchase price of such Unit, inclusive of the Cooperating Agent commission (a "Listing Fee"). Any Listing Fee shall be split 2.5% in favour of the Cooperating Agent and 1% in favour of the Listing Brokerage, and the Listing Brokerage agrees to forthwith pay 2.5% of a Listing Fee to the Cooperating Agent upon receipt of such Listing Fee. A Cooperating Agent may be employed at the Listing Brokerage so long as they are not a member of the Listing Team. In the event a member of the Listing Team represents a purchaser of a Unit (which representation shall be subject to the prior written consent of the Receiver is in its sole and absolute discretion), the Listing Fee shall be reduced to 3% of the purchase price of such Unit, provided that the Listing Brokerage shall be entitled to retain the entirety of such 3% Listing Fee in such circumstances as agent for the Seller and the purchaser. For greater certainty, other than the Listing Team, all other agents shall be treated as third party Cooperating Agents, shall not be provided with any confidential information in respect of the Units and shall be compensated pursuant to this Agreement as a Cooperating Agent. The Seller acknowledges that payment of HST applies on all commissions payable. The Seller agrees to notify the Listing Brokerage of the successful completion of a closing of a Unit. The Seller will instruct its solicitors to pay a Listing Fee payable to the Listing Brokerage hereunder directly out of the proceeds of sale of a Unit and to have same addressed as a closing cost of the transaction. For the avoidance of doubt, in no circumstance shall any Listing Fee or other compensation be payable to the Listing Brokerage in a circumstance where this Agreement is terminated in accordance with Section 2 hereof. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, in the event the Seller and KingSett Mortgage Corporation ("KingSett") enter into a credit bid transaction pursuant to which KingSett (or any affiliate thereof) acquires a Unit, no Listing Fee or other commission or compensation shall be payable by the Seller to the Listing Agent in respect of such credit bid transaction.

6. <u>Holdover Period Commission</u>. Any Listing Fee payable to the Listing Brokerage during the holdover period, being three (3) months following the termination of the Listing Agreement ("Holdover

Period"), shall: (a) only be payable in respect of sales of Units to purchasers who were introduced to the Seller or to a Unit by the Listing Brokerage during the Listing Period and who the Listing Brokerage has disclosed in writing to the Seller by no later than three (3) days following the expiration or termination of the Agreement; and (b) be reduced by any fee, commission and/or other compensation paid or payable to another broker or agent by the Seller for the sale of such Unit as the new listing brokerage (the "**New Agent**") on the basis of an agreement with the New Agent entered into with respect to the Holdover Period or any portion thereof. Notwithstanding any other provision hereof, the Listing Brokerage shall not be entitled to any Listing Fee or other compensation as the Seller's agent in respect of a sale of a Unit entered into during the Holdover Period if any member of the Listing Team represents the purchaser of such Unit.

- 7. Acknowledgments. The Listing Brokerage acknowledges and agrees in favour of the Seller that:
 - (a) the Units are to be marketed and sold on an "as is, where is" basis and, accordingly, any agreement of purchase and sale shall provide for an acknowledgment by the purchaser that such Unit is being sold by the Seller on an "as is, where is" basis, and that, except as may be required by law, no representations or warranties have been or will be made by the Seller in respect of a Unit, including with respect to the condition thereof;
 - (b) in lieu of a transfer of land, the Seller will seek to vest title to any Unit in a purchaser by way of a vesting order of the Court; and
 - (c) the sale of any Unit requires the prior approval of the Court in the Court's sole and absolute discretion.

8. <u>Advertisement Expenses & Third-Party Consultants.</u> All advertising and sales promotion shall be subject to the prior approval of the Seller and all such advertisement and promotional material shall be prepared, published and distributed by the Listing Brokerage and shall be at the sole expense of the Listing Brokerage. All third-party reports and legal service fees requested and/or approved by the Seller shall be at the expense of the Seller.

9. **Indemnity.** The Listing Brokerage confirms that it owes an obligation to the Seller to carry out its activities in respect of this engagement in a competent and professional manner acting reasonably and in good faith and in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. The Listing Brokerage agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Seller and its directors, officers, employees and agents (collectively, the "**Indemnified Parts**" and each an "**Indemnified Party**") from and against any and all claims, losses, damages, liabilities and expenses (including lawyers fees and expenses on a full indemnity basis) (collectively, "**Losses**") incurred by an Indemnified Party arising out of or in connection with a failure by the Listing Brokerage (including any member of the Listing Team and any other employee or agent of the Listing Brokerage) to carry out its activities in respect of this engagement in a competent and professional manner acting reasonably and in good faith or the Listing Brokerage's failure to comply with its obligations hereunder, including, without limitation, any Losses incurred by an Indemnified Party. This indemnify Party arising or termination of the Agreement indefinitely.

10. **Confidentiality.** The Listing Brokerage shall treat and shall cause its employees and agents to treat as confidential and shall not disclose, during as well as after the rendering of the service contracted herein, any confidential information, records or documents to which the Listing Brokerage becomes privy as a result of its performance of the Agreement and shall take all necessary steps to ensure the confidentiality of information in the Listing Brokerage's possession or control except for disclosure that may be required for the reasonable performance by the Listing Brokerage of its responsibilities hereunder or as required by law. These obligations of confidentiality shall be in addition to any obligations of the Listing Broker under any other confidentiality or non-disclosure agreement entered into by the parties.

11. <u>Assignment.</u> This Agreement may not be assigned in whole or in part by the Listing Brokerage without the prior written consent of the Seller which consent may be unreasonably and/or arbitrarily withheld and any assignment made without that consent is void and of no effect.

12. **Warranty.** Subject to the remainder of this Section 12, the Seller represents and warrants that the Seller has the exclusive authority and power to execute this Agreement and to authorize the Listing Brokerage to offer Units for sale; provided however, that this Agreement and the engagement of the Listing Brokerage hereunder and any sale of a Unit is subject to approval of the Court. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Listing Brokerage acknowledges and agrees that the Seller has only limited knowledge about the Units and cannot confirm (i) any third party interests or claims with respect to the Units, which may affect the sale of the Units, and/or (ii) if there are any defects that are hidden, not visible, or discoverable through a reasonable inspection of the Units that may render the Units dangerous or potentially dangerous or may affect the sale of the Units.

13. <u>**Counterparts.**</u> This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, and each of which so executed shall be deemed to be an original and such counterparts together shall constitute one and the same agreement. Transmission by e-mail of an executed counterpart of this Agreement shall be deemed to constitute due and sufficient delivery of such counterpart.

14. **Jurisdiction.** This Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the laws of the Province of Ontario. The parties hereby irrevocably attorn to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Court with respect to any claim, dispute or other controversy arising under or in connection with this Agreement.

15. <u>Finder's Fees</u>. The Seller **does not** consent to the Listing Brokerage or any Cooperating Agent (or their respective affiliates) receiving and retaining, in addition to the commission provided for or otherwise contemplated in this Agreement, a finder's fee for any financing in respect of the Units.

16. <u>Verification of Information</u>. The Seller authorizes the Listing Brokerage to obtain any information from any regulatory authorities, governments, mortgagees or others affecting the Units and the Seller agrees to execute and deliver such further authorizations in this regard as may be reasonably required. For greater certainty, none of the Listing Brokerage or the Listing Brokerage's representatives may bind the Seller or execute any documentation on behalf of the Seller. The Seller hereby authorizes, instructs and directs the above noted regulatory authorities, governments, mortgagees or others to release any and all information to the Listing Brokerage.

17. <u>Listing Period.</u> The term of this Agreement shall begin upon the date this Agreement is executed (the "**Commencement Date**") and shall terminate one minute before midnight on the three month anniversary following the Commencement Date or upon earlier termination as otherwise prescribed herein (the "Listing Period"); provided, however, that the Seller and the Listing Brokerage may agree to extend the Listing Period for a further three month period by mutual agreement in writing. Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement, the Listing Brokerage shall not advertise any of the Units on MLS until the Seller provides written authorization to do so and all marketing materials have been approved. The Listing Brokerage shall have one (1) day following said approval to post a Unit on MLS.

18. <u>Conflicts.</u> To the extent that any conflict, potential conflict or inconsistency exists or may exist between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of any other agreement(s) the Seller has entered into with the Listing Brokerage, then the terms of this Agreement shall prevail. If any provision hereof is invalid or unenforceable in any jurisdiction where this Agreement is to be performed, such provision shall be deemed to be deleted and the remaining portions of this Agreement shall remain valid and binding on the parties hereto.

19. <u>Entire Agreement/Amendments/Waivers.</u> This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous written or oral communications, understandings, and agreements with respect to the subject matter hereof. No provision of this Agreement may be amended, modified, waived or changed unless made in writing and signed by the parties.

[Remainder of this page left intentionally blank]

AGREED AND ACCEPTED THIS <u>5th</u> DAY OF DECEMBER 2022.

RE/MA		HALLMARK	REALTY	LTD.,		
BROKERAGE DocuSigned by:						
Per:		Gloria Yu				
	Name:	Gloria Yeung				
	Title:	Broker				

KSV RESTRUCTURING INC., SOLELY IN ITS CAPACITY AS COURT APPOINTED RECEIVER AND MANAGER OF CERTAIN PROPERTY OF 30 ROE INVESTMENTS CORP. AND NOT IN ITS PERSONAL OR CORPORATE CAPACITIES

Per:

Name: Noah Goldstein Title: Managing Director

SCHEDULE "A" - UNITS

PIN 76559 - 0508 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 1, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 1 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0509 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 2, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 2 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0510 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 3, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 3 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0511 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 4, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 4 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0512 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 5, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 5 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0513 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 6, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 6 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0514 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 7, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 7 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0515 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 8, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 8 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0516 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 9, LEVEL 34, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address PH09 PENTHOUSE 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0582 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 59, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0583 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 60, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER

- 8 -

WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0584 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 61, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0585 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 62, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0586 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 63, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0587 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 64, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0588 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 65, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0589 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 66, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0590 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 67, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0621 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 98, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0622 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 99, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0623 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 100, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0624 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 101, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0625 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 102, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0626 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 103, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0627 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 104, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0628 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 105, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address TORONTO

PIN 76559 - 0629 LT Interest/Estate Fee Simple

Description UNIT 106, LEVEL C, TORONTO STANDARD CONDOMINIUM PLAN NO. 2559 AND ITS APPURTENANT INTEREST; SUBJECT TO AND TOGETHER WITH EASEMENTS AS SET OUT IN SCHEDULE A AS IN AT4423506; CITY OF TORONTO

Address 30 ROEHAMPTON AVENUE TORONTO

7327598